
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 
 


Board Decision 
Election of Board Officers 
February 11, 2009 


 
RESOLUTION 503 


ELECTING OFFICERS OF  
ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 


 
WHEREAS: 
 


1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the 
Executive Director and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by 
the Board of Directors at the board’s annual meeting.  


 
2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated 


the following directors to serve as officers for 2009: 
 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as 


officers of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2009: 
 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


 
 


Moved by: _____________  Seconded by: _______________ 
 
Vote:  _____ in favor  _____ abstained 
 
Opposed: [name]______________ 
  
Adopted on (date) ___________by the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors. 


 
 








 
 
 
 


Board Decision 
Adopting Interim Amendments to the Strategic Plan 
February 11, 2009 


Summary 
Adopt interim amendments to the Energy Trust 2007-2012 strategic plan to reflect changes in funding 
pursuant to the Oregon Renewable Energy Act of 2007. 


Background 
• The current strategic plan has the following mission statement, vision and 2012 goals: 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


• Energy Trust now receives substantially higher revenues for commercial and residential 
programs under the 2007 Oregon Renewable Energy Act. As a result, the board discussed last 
June revising the quantitative goals (numbers 1-3) as follows: 


1. Secure 430 average megawatts (aMW) of electricity and 25 million annual therms of 
natural gas by 2014. 


2. Secure 130 average megawatts of electric generation from renewable resources by 
2014. 


• The board also discussed potential revisions to the plan’s vision and mission statements, and has 
called for further revisions in the strategic plan to incorporate non-quantitative, 2025 goals and 
five-year objectives. 


 Mission statement: 
To change how Oregonians produce and use energy by investing in efficient technologies 
and renewable resources that save dollars and protect the environment.  


Vision: 
Imagine meeting the future energy needs of Oregonians in a way that lowers energy cost, 
adds comfort to homes, strengthens our economy and leaves our environment healthier for 
generations to come. This will happen when we use energy efficiently and create renewable 
energy. The people at Energy Trust are committed to this future. 


 Goals (by 2012): 
1.  Save 300 average megawatts of electricity. 
2.  Save 21 million annual therms of natural gas 
3.  Help Oregonians meet 10 percent of their electric energy needs from renewable 


resources. 
4.  Expand participation by customers that have been hard to reach historically. 
5.  Help businesses to thrive by promoting energy efficiency and renewable energy.  
6.  Encourage Oregonians to integrate energy efficiency and renewable energy in 


daily life. 
 







R504 Adopting Interim Amendments to the Strategic Plan               February 11, 2009 
 


 


2 


 


 


 


• Energy Trust is currently reviewing its internal organization to help ensure it can respond 
appropriately to increased demand for energy conservation and renewable energy. This review 
should be substantially completed this summer. Staff does not believe that the organization re-
design will foreclose any choices regarding longer-term goals or objectives. 


Discussion 
• The organizational redesign process, the pendency of the new federal administration’s stimulus 


package and the pendency of energy bills in the 2009 Oregon legislature all have the potential to 
affect Energy Trust’s strategic direction.  


• At the same time, the strategic plan’s current quantitative goals understate how much energy 
efficiency Energy Trust expects to secure over the coming five years, given higher funding levels 
for commercial and residential efficiency under the Renewable Energy Act of 2007.  


• The interim efficiency goals discussed last summer (430 aMW electric and 25 million therms of 
gas savings) were based on resource assessments and analysis that Energy Trust staff has done in 
connection with utility integrated resource planning. The revised goals reflect actual savings in 
2002-2008, plus a high-end estimate of cost-effective efficiency we expect to be available, 
projected to 2014. 


• The following graph shows cumulative electric savings to 2008, and as projected for the coming 
five years  (savings with the pre-2008 public purpose funds are the blue line; savings from 
supplemental Renewable Energy Act funds are the pink line; the two combined is the black line): 


 


Cummulative Savings
Forecast of Electric Energy Efficiency Resource 2009 -  2013


 with 2002 - 2008 Actual Savings


273


324


376


 433 


124


159


98


58
31


15


194


235


-


50


100


150


200


250


300


350


400


450


500


20
02


20
03


20
04


20
05


20
06


20
07


20
08


20
09


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


Year


C
u


m
m


u
la


ti
ve


 a
M


W
 p


er
 Y


ea
r


Cumm PGE & PAC All Sectors 1149
Cumm PGE & PAC All Sectors 838


Cumm PGE & PAC All Sectors 1149 + 838


 
 


 


 







R504 Adopting Interim Amendments to the Strategic Plan               February 11, 2009 
 


 


3 


Cummulative Savings
Forecast of Gas Energy Efficiency Resource 2009 -  2013


 with 2002 - 2008 Actual Savings


-


2,103


4,488


6,736


9,369


11,901
13,610


17,413


21,796


809151


26,726


-


5,000


10,000


15,000


20,000


25,000


30,000


2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013


Year


C
u


m
u


la
ti


ve
 G


as
 S


av
in


g
s 


(1
00


0'
s 


T
h


er
m


s)


 


 


• The next graph shows the amount of electric savings year-by-year: 


Annual Savings
Forecast of Electric Energy Efficiency Resource 2009 -  2013


 with 2002-2008 actual savings


-


10


20


30


40


50


60


2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013


Year


aM
W


 p
er


 Y
ea


r


PGE & PAC All Sectors 1149
PGE & PAC All Sectors 838
PGE & PAC All Sectors 1149 + 838


 


• The following graph shows cumulative gas savings to 2008, and as projected for the coming five 
years: 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


• To identify an interim goal for renewable energy, staff developed high and low estimates of 
generation from projects of 20 MW and less in size. The proposed 130 aMW interim goal 
reflects the high end of these estimates. 


 


 


 







R504 Adopting Interim Amendments to the Strategic Plan               February 11, 2009 
 


 


4 


 


 


 


ETO Renewables Cumulative aMWs
Forecast of Renewable Generation 2009 - 2013


with 2002 - 2008 Actual Generation


0


17


64


14 14 15


97


112


120 124
133128


0


10


20


30


40


50


60


70
80


90


100


110


120


130


140


150


160


2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013


Year


 C
u


m
u


la
ti


ve
 a


M
W


 p
er


 Y
ea


r


 


Recommendation 
We recommend the board amend the strategic plan to incorporate new five-year goals on an interim 
basis, and revisit them and the rest of the strategic plan this fall. 


 







R504 Adopting Interim Amendments to the Strategic Plan               February 11, 2009 
 


 


5 


 


 


RESOLUTION 504 
ADOPTING INTERIM AMENDMENTS TO THE STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
WHEREAS: 


The quantitative goals of the Energy Trust strategic plan should reflect the 
substantially higher revenues that are being provided to Energy Trust for 
commercial and residential efficiency  programs under the 2007 Oregon 
Renewable Energy Act. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


On an interim basis, the quantitative goals of the Energy Trust strategic 
plan, goals 1-3, are replaced with the following: 


  Achieve by 2014: 


1. 430 average megawatts of electricity and 26 million annual therms of 
natural gas. 


2. 130 average megawatts of electric generation from renewable 
resources. 


 
The board will revisit these interim goals and the rest of the strategic 
plan in the fall of 2009. 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
November 30, 2008


(Unaudited)


NOV OCT DEC Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 60,863,200 59,235,542 40,358,008 1,627,658 20,505,192
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,269,480 10,317,966 8,504,055 (48,486) 1,765,425
  Investments* 9,806,460 9,785,976 12,636,975 20,484 (2,830,516)
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 1,047,266 1,045,074 3,592,594 2,193 (2,545,328)
  Receivables 8,679 9,413 62,208 (734) (53,529)
  Prepaid Expenses 125,320 106,787 77,175 18,534 48,145
  Advances to Vendors 437,286 755,399 922,974 (318,113) (485,688)


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
   Total Current Assets 82,557,691 81,256,157 66,153,990 1,301,535 16,403,701


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 54,160                     54,160                     -                          -                          54,160                     
  Computer Hardware and Software 910,855                   910,855                   885,669                   -                          25,186                     
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343                   113,343                   113,343                   -                          -                          
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323                     41,323                     41,323                     -                          -                          


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,119,680              1,119,680              1,040,334              -                         79,346                   
  Less Depreciation (976,037)                  (970,556)                  (905,274)                  (5,481)                     (70,764)                    


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 143,643 149,124 135,061 (5,481) 8,582


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000                     26,000                     26,000                     -                          -                          
  Deferred Compensation Asset 92,922                     87,577                     49,684                     5,345                       43,238                     


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Other Assets 118,922 113,577 75,684 5,345 43,238


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Assets 82,820,256 81,518,858 66,364,735 1,301,399 16,455,521


=============== =============== =============== =============== ===============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,213,913 3,733,871 6,236,442 2,480,043 (22,529)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 317,217 311,437 275,553 5,780 41,664


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 6,531,130 4,045,307 6,511,995 2,485,823 19,135


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 145,212                   147,595                   171,430                   (2,384)                     (26,219)                    
   Deferred Compensation Payable 92,922                     87,577                     49,684                     5,345                       43,238                     
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 3,175                       3,175                       12,386                     -                          (9,211)                     


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 241,309 238,347 233,501 2,962 7,808


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Liabilities 6,772,439 4,283,655 6,745,496 2,488,784 26,943


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrest. Net Assets 17,208,481               18,349,573               10,542,502               (1,141,092)               6,665,979                
  Board Desig. Net Assets - Escrow accts 11,316,746               11,363,040               12,096,649               (46,294)                    (779,903)                  
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beg. of Year 47,522,590               47,522,590               36,980,089               -                          10,542,502               


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Net Assets 76,047,817 77,235,203 59,619,239 (1,187,386) 16,428,578


--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 82,820,256 81,518,858 66,364,735 1,301,399 16,455,521


=============== =============== =============== =============== ===============
*Although these funds are not escrowed, they are committed via the budget process for approved programs.







 January February March April May June July August September October November Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$    3,757,295$    2,894,504$    2,755,250$    1,822,278$    400,998$       184,811$       1,243,479$    1,426,588$    (464,035)$      (1,187,386)$   16,428,578$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752            6,753            6,753            6,752            6,932            6,932            6,932            6,225            5,626            5,626            5,481            70,763              
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,384)           (2,383)           (26,218)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041            4,357            (1,178)           (8,085)           1,568            (534)              9,846            (1,774)           (2,299)           6,047            597               10,587              
Other Receivables 42,200           (4,645)           2,094            50                 (22)                (434)              351               (14,318)         6,022            11,508           136               42,942              
Advances to Vendors 282,109         278,827         (517,346)        137,275         293,128         (397,822)        177,726         282,267         (567,529)        198,939         318,113         485,688            
Other Assets 16,618           4,373            17,949           (28,724)         (75,367)         5,382            (4,543)           9,233            (24,552)         12,129           (23,879)         (91,381)             
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879         (184,085)        (726,125)        1,104,414      (1,084,865)     126,274         369,058         408,184         (212,819)        835,467         1,547,228      2,338,611          
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)     (335,765)        -                -                -                -                494,769         (450,089)        (44,680)         -                841,185         (2,429,828)        
A/P - Professional Services 10,199           2,242            14,854           (9,175)           2,876            3,506            (2,905)           11,318           (14,870)         4,861            24,892           47,798              
A/P - Operations (61,703)         (43,861)         43,275           (46,831)         (8,887)           (22,469)         25,707           18,206           109,385         (58,669)         66,738           20,891              
Payroll and related accruals 26,392           11,599           (960)              7,903            8,379            19,774           (8,621)           (13,804)         9,785            13,329           11,125           84,901              
Other liabilities (5,000)           -                (999)              (3,212)           -                -                (9,211)               


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652      3,494,706      1,731,436      3,916,445      963,637         134,223         1,250,748      1,495,545      685,062         562,819         1,601,848      16,974,120        


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (12,292)         -                -                (39,307)         (6,447)           (21,300)         (79,346)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)         -                -                (39,307)         (6,447)           -                -                (21,300)         -                -                -                (79,346)             


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632     66,216,992     69,711,698     71,443,134     75,320,272     76,277,462     76,411,685     77,662,433     79,136,678     79,821,740     80,384,558     65,091,632        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360      3,494,706      1,731,436      3,877,138      957,190         134,223         1,250,748      1,474,245      685,062         562,819         1,601,848      16,894,774        


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$   69,711,698$   71,443,134$   75,320,272$   76,277,462$   76,411,685$   77,662,433$   79,136,678$   79,821,740$   80,384,558$   81,986,406$   81,986,406$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 Forecasts, 2009 Budget


FC-F-06.1


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding 6,508,323        7,337,337        7,345,672        6,757,067        6,405,186        5,641,637        5,564,566        6,452,848        6,444,493        6,320,242        6,132,854        7,248,470        


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           167,751           138,724           134,653           125,749           148,676           136,366 129,536           137,221           117,514           108,303           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        7,513,423        6,895,791        6,539,840        5,767,386        5,713,241        6,589,214        6,574,029        6,457,463        6,250,368        7,356,773        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,914,937        406,287           2,482,857        2,042,506        1,221,592        1,296,152        2,847,443        1,256,066        382,649           2,739,153        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        1,987,756        1,790,004        2,124,174        2,551,985        2,162,431        2,897,347        2,250,179        3,491,498        3,268,878        9,515,648        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           449,836           441,158           425,719           423,613           450,140           425,796           458,436           447,372           426,912           595,098           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           384,226           254,251           365,759           498,150           536,950           367,672           328,839           548,714           521,640           (227,440)          


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           45,232            126,953           184,141           116,908           91,380            128,002           4,071              150,994           48,442            375,070           


-                     


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        5,781,987        3,018,653        5,582,650        5,633,162        4,462,493        5,114,969        5,888,968        5,894,644        4,648,521        12,997,528      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        957,190           134,223           1,250,748        1,474,245        685,062           562,819           1,601,848        (5,640,755)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      80,384,558      81,986,406      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      80,384,558      81,986,406      76,345,651      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      11,363,040      11,316,746      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (255,950)          (152,667)          (308,363)          (281,128)          (63,987)           (475,000)          


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            31,176            19,514            25,386            19,988            25,874            23,156            21,065            22,410            17,693            16,619            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      11,363,040      11,316,746      10,858,365      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 Forecasts, 2


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2009-B-02


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


8,938,719     9,351,591     8,820,658     8,183,280     7,798,232     7,260,342     7,136,307     7,324,212     6,938,813         6,826,605     7,188,814        7,739,699       


102,733       101,884       105,059       106,230       106,262       103,730       99,709         96,475         92,786             84,056         74,280            62,768           


9,041,452     9,453,476     8,925,717     8,289,510     7,904,494     7,364,072     7,236,016     7,420,688     7,031,599         6,910,661     7,263,093        7,802,467       


1,992,523     2,697,562     3,057,033     2,258,933     2,261,783     3,069,256     2,279,532     2,265,083     3,041,589         2,272,432     2,426,873        3,204,315       


12,419,973   3,534,358     4,307,481     5,048,973     5,043,000     6,173,591     5,708,299     5,336,587     5,349,517         11,298,720   7,405,304        14,554,489     


552,151       567,924       569,977       579,270       579,270       579,752       579,752       579,752       579,752           579,752       579,752          579,752          


546,532       642,379       917,036       917,336       1,003,561     850,463       850,513       946,438       942,680           942,730       1,028,355        866,847          


156,839       234,083       193,648       197,198       185,117       185,553       189,420       177,852       193,850           186,740       200,608          187,791          


15,668,018   7,676,307     9,045,175     9,001,710     9,072,731     10,858,615   9,607,516     9,305,712     10,107,387       15,280,373   11,640,891      19,393,194     


(6,626,566)    1,777,169     (119,458)      (712,199)      (1,168,237)    (3,494,543)    (2,371,500)    (1,885,025)    (3,075,788)       (8,369,712)    (4,377,798)       (11,590,727)    


76,345,651   69,719,085   71,496,254   71,376,797   70,664,597   69,496,360   66,001,817   63,630,318   61,745,293       58,669,505   50,299,793      45,921,995     


69,719,085   71,496,254   71,376,797   70,664,597   69,496,360   66,001,817   63,630,318   61,745,293   58,669,505       50,299,793   45,921,995      34,331,269     


10,858,365   10,226,530   9,487,418     8,853,527     8,093,717     7,351,406     6,714,311     6,599,414     6,502,983         6,512,737     6,397,163        6,300,429       


(647,636)      (753,886)      (647,636)      (772,511)      (753,886)      (647,636)      (124,875)      (106,250)      -                     (125,250)      (106,250)         -                    


15,802         14,774         13,745         12,701         11,575         10,541         9,978           9,819           9,754               9,675           9,516              9,451             


10,226,530   9,487,418     8,853,527     8,093,717     7,351,406     6,714,311     6,599,414     6,502,983     6,512,737         6,397,163     6,300,429        6,309,879       







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


November YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,535,077 2,689,162 (154,085) 31,676,066 32,261,411 (585,345)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,537,521 1,724,417 (186,896) 19,277,872 19,888,875 (611,002)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 389,565 359,274 30,291 8,603,495 7,857,512 745,983


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 66,386 54,180 12,206 872,670 787,057 85,613
------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,528,548 4,827,033 (298,484) 60,430,104 60,794,855 (364,751)


Incremental Funds - PGE 1,006,979 1,072,693 (65,714) 4,684,743 3,880,661 804,083


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 597,327 709,316 (111,989) 5,795,857 5,644,418 151,439


Revenue from Investments 116,917 117,405 (488) 1,659,287 1,730,019 (70,732)
------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,249,771 6,726,447 (476,675) 72,569,992 72,049,952 520,040
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,248,126 2,166,949 (81,177) 20,362,061 21,857,292 1,495,232


Incentives 4,110,063 6,945,501 2,835,437 25,430,950 50,527,902 25,096,952


Salaries and Related Expenses 438,037 510,779 72,742 4,844,215 5,618,564 774,349


Professional Services 546,532 597,810 51,278 4,385,694 6,558,946 2,173,252


Supplies 2,726 4,075 1,349 38,480 54,325 15,845


Telephone 5,570 4,725 (845) 50,153 51,975 1,822


Postage and Shipping Expenses 2,241 5,496 3,255 18,486 60,454 41,969


Occupancy Expenses 29,352 27,801 (1,550) 195,945 312,680 116,735


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 25,998 24,610 (1,388) 188,680 312,741 124,061


Call Center 12,886 20,078 7,192 135,495 181,909 46,414


Printing and Publications 10,815 18,119 7,304 144,690 187,306 42,617


Travel 11,056 16,446 5,390 110,201 165,903 55,702


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp (14,581) 25,663 40,243 132,798 297,038 164,239


Insurance 6,322 8,000 1,678 60,225 88,000 27,775


Miscellaneous Expenses 90 217 127 1,762 2,383 621


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,925 5,247 3,322 41,579 66,108 24,530
------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 7,437,157 10,381,514 2,944,357 56,141,414 86,343,527 30,202,113
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (1,187,386) (3,655,068) 2,467,682 16,428,578 (14,293,575) 30,722,153
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 40,778,270 5,014,742 45,793,012 -                          45,793,012
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,123,077 773,968 1,897,045 1,067,249 315,151 1,382,400 3,279,445
Outsourced Services 2,310,211 824,173 3,134,384 224,172 306,325 530,497 3,664,881
Planning and Evaluation 845,543 190,651 1,036,194 13,574 1,252 14,826 1,051,020
Customer Service Management 496,934 55,642 552,576 -                          552,576


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 45,554,035 6,859,176 52,413,211 1,304,995 622,728 1,927,723 54,340,934


Program Support Costs


Supplies 7,729 5,489 13,218 7,581 3,381 10,962 24,180
Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,907 1,934 6,841 4,015 3,835 7,850 14,691
Telephone 6,075 4,156 10,231 4,021 673 4,694 14,925
Printing and Publications 75,619 15,317 90,936 2,901 34,643 37,544 128,480
Occupancy Expenses 42,798 31,145 73,943 37,405 13,126 50,531 124,474
Insurance 13,154 9,573 22,727 11,497 4,034 15,531 38,258
Equipment 5,839 12,078 17,917 4,998 1,774 6,772 24,689
Travel 42,235 24,271 66,506 20,014 8,580 28,594 95,100
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 32,574 9,822 42,396 40,779 8,876 49,655 92,051
Interest Expense and Bank Fees -                          -                          -                          
Depreciation & Amortization 2,482                       9,208                       11,690 2,169 761 2,930 14,620
Dues, Licenses and Fees 27,762                     1,191                       28,953 6,980 4,176 11,156 40,109
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,373                       128                         1,501 84 28 112 1,613
IT Services 813,750                   134,339                   948,089 162,591 76,610 239,201 1,187,290


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,076,297 258,651 1,334,948 305,035 160,497 465,532 1,800,480


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 46,630,332 7,117,827 53,748,159 1,610,030 783,225 2,393,255 56,141,414


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.3%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2008







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $24,594,929 $14,809,664 $8,603,495 $872,670 $48,880,758 $7,081,137 $4,468,208 $11,549,345 $60,430,104
Incremental Funding 4,684,743 5,795,857 10,480,600 10,480,600
Revenue from Investments 1,659,287 1,659,287


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 29,279,672 20,605,521 8,603,495 872,670 59,361,358 7,081,137 4,468,208 11,549,345 1,659,287 72,569,992


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,348,535 694,358 663,974 70,728 5,596 2,783,191 463,756 310,211 773,967 -                 3,557,158
  Program Delivery 8,961,656 5,108,870 2,241,407 277,793 24,722 16,614,448 51,663 56,432 108,095 -                 16,722,543
  Incentives 9,332,063 5,599,963 5,298,804 251,249 42,226 20,524,305 2,563,992 2,342,654 4,906,646 -                 25,430,951
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 894,468 463,779 378,857 23,488 1,594 1,762,186 168,459 104,709 273,168 -                 2,035,354
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,486,269 661,376 591,885 63,609 5,347 2,808,487 127,743 115,191 242,934 -                 3,051,421
  Program Legal Services 217 110 141 10 1 480 6,898 43 6,941 -                 7,421
  Program Quality Assurance 59,021 26,120 43,920 2,297 116 131,474 522 4,068 4,590 -                 136,064
  Outsourced  Services 223,880 124,652 76,754 7,103 141 432,530 326,789 160,401 487,190 -                 919,720
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 201,301 87,839 197,845 9,542 406 496,934 34,605 21,037 55,642 -                 552,576
  IT Services 384,424 199,632 212,522 15,425 1,747 813,750 80,691 53,649 134,340 -                 948,090
  Other Program Expenses 124,496 68,886 64,917 3,954 296 262,550 76,461 47,850 124,311 -                 386,861


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 23,016,331 13,035,585 9,771,027 725,198 82,194 46,630,335 3,901,579 3,216,245 7,117,824 -                53,748,159


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 689,454 390,482 292,692 21,723 2,462 1,396,814 116,873 96,343 213,216 -                 1,610,030
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 335,395 189,956 142,385 10,568 1,198 679,502 56,855 46,868 103,723 -                 783,225


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,024,850 580,439 435,077 32,291 3,660 2,076,316 173,728 143,211 316,939 -                2,393,255


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 24,041,180 13,616,024 10,206,104 757,489 85,854 48,706,651 4,075,307 3,359,456 7,434,763 -                56,141,414


------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,238,492 6,989,497 (1,602,609) 115,181 (85,854) 10,654,707 3,005,830 1,108,752 4,114,582 1,659,287 16,428,578


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4) 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,994 446,188 189,069 15,777,585 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,239
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 22,137,572 719,751 5,810,385 561,369 103,215 29,332,292 27,103,342 15,006,606 42,109,948 4,605,575 76,047,817


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $4,853,848 $1,717,061 6,570,909 $1,956,709 $95,475 2,052,184 8,623,093 10,081,110             1,458,017            
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 3,337,394 1,643,772 4,981,166 746,410 58,266 804,676 5,785,842 8,226,474               2,440,632            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 806,028 608,058 1,414,086 -                        1,414,086 1,449,427               35,341                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Commercial 8,997,270      3,968,891     12,966,161     2,703,119     153,741   -           2,856,860         15,823,021    19,757,011       3,933,990      


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 3,691,203 3,311,745 7,002,948 75,535 4,045 79,580 7,082,528 12,507,856             5,425,328            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 456,720 344,544 801,264 -                        801,264 873,356                  72,092                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Industrial 4,147,923      3,656,289     7,804,212       75,535          4,045       -           79,580              7,883,792      13,381,212       5,497,420      


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 4,659,517 1,878,061 6,537,578 5,827,064 234,912 6,061,976 12,599,554 14,431,454             1,831,900            
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 5,771,678 3,762,153 9,533,831 1,600,386 364,791 85,854 2,051,031 11,584,862 12,340,810             755,948              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 464,792 350,630 815,422 -                        815,422 952,114                  136,692              


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Residential 10,895,987    5,990,844     16,886,831     7,427,450     599,703   85,854     8,113,007         24,999,838    27,724,378       2,724,540      


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 24,041,180    13,616,024   37,657,204     10,206,104   757,489   85,854     11,049,447       48,706,651    60,862,601       12,155,950    
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 730,562 678,918 1,409,480 -                        1,409,480 1,954,311               544,831              
Open Solicitation 380,105 290,605 670,710 -                        670,710 5,898,005               5,227,295            
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 2,617,400 1,591,190 4,208,590 -                        4,208,590 7,620,125               3,411,535            
Utility Scale Projects 22,152 666,391 688,543 -                        688,543 4,212,123               3,523,580            
Wind 325,088 132,352 457,440 -                        457,440                5,796,360 5,338,920            


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 4,075,307      3,359,456     7,434,763       -                -           -           -                    7,434,763      25,480,924       18,046,161    
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 28,116,487    16,975,480   45,091,967     10,206,104   757,489   85,854     11,049,447       56,141,414    86,343,527       30,202,113    


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended November 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QTD QTRLY QTR YTD QTD QTRLY QTR YTD
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES
Outsourced Services $54,775 $81,647 $26,872 $209,795 $319,639 $109,844 $34,514 $102,255 $67,741 $306,325 $374,935 $68,610


Legal Services 848 10,125 9,277 14,377 37,125 22,748 1,875 1,875 6,875 6,875


Salaries and Related Expenses 198,858 315,715 116,857 1,067,249 1,157,622 90,372 64,903 91,566 26,663 315,151 335,741 20,590


Supplies 627 1,425 798 1,963 5,225 3,262 388 300 (88) 1,410 1,100 (310)


Telephone 854 300 (554) 2,585 1,100 (1,485) 31 (31) 169 (169)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 307 675 368 2,040 2,475 435 263 5,113 4,850 3,142 18,746 15,604


Noncapitalized Equipment 13,200 13,200 300 300 20 1,100 1,080


Printing and Publications 20 125 105 244 458 214 1,144 12,313 11,168 33,711 45,146 11,435


Travel 3,410 11,475 8,065 20,012 42,075 22,063 4,373 1,850 (2,523) 8,579 6,783 (1,796)


Conference, Training & Mtngs (13,376) 31,187 44,563 40,779 114,354 73,575 1,562 3,625 2,063 8,876 13,292 4,416


Miscellaneous Expenses 25 25 5 92 87


Dues, Licenses and Fees 482 1,179 697 6,646 7,712 1,066 1,316 1,250 (65) 4,058 4,583 525


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 17,393 28,810 11,417 68,169 104,732 36,562 7,145 10,135 2,989 23,921 36,842 12,920


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 30,435 75,065 44,630 162,591 238,009 75,418 14,341 35,369 21,029 76,610 112,146 35,536


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,973 5,019 2,046 13,574 18,034 4,459 274 463 189 1,252 1,664 411
------------------- ------------------- ---------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- --------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 297,606 562,773 265,167 1,610,030 2,061,852 451,821 130,254 266,413 136,159 783,225 958,953 175,727
========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs











Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-
$10
$20
$30
$40
$50
$60
$70
$80
$90


$100


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Marc


h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


Octo
be


r
Nov


em
be


r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-
$2
$4
$6
$8


$10
$12


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e
Jul


y
Aug


us
t


Se
pt


em
be


r
O


cto
be


r
Nov


em
be


r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-
$10
$20
$30
$40
$50
$60


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 12/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 12/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/2008 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


November 2008


Administration


Administration Total:  4,203,563  1,596,852  2,606,711


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  1,873,595  915,733  957,862


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/09 19,090,000  12,244,802  6,845,198


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. Energy Star Homes & Products 1/1/08 12/31/08 6,519,071  4,535,212  1,983,859


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 5,225,120  3,051,354  2,173,766


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/08 3,175,500  1,563,060  1,612,440


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 2,410,128  1,818,731  591,397


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 890,000  657,274  232,726


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 882,200  645,625  236,575


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/10 650,000  408,131  241,869


Resource Actions Programs LivingWise program kits 6/15/08 2/28/09 498,105  15,000  483,105


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


80+ computer power supply 


prog


8/1/08 12/31/09 386,236  0  386,236


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 355,000  302,536  52,464


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  300,000  0


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  191,521  98,479


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/08 261,586  104,233  157,353


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/08 247,751  157,722  90,029


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 215,000  155,296  59,704


NEXANT, INC. High tech pilot & pdc trans. 11/1/08 12/31/08 143,000  0  143,000


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 4/30/09 123,000  74,002  48,998


South Stephens Appliance Roseburg LIR - refrigs. 3/1/08 12/1/08 99,750  0  99,750


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  50,582  39,418


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/08 80,000  61,513  18,488


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/09 77,300  57,541  19,759


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/09 57,000  13,615  43,385


Weyerhaeuser Paper Company Albany CHP feasibilty study 3/20/08 3/19/09 50,000  0  50,000


New Buildings Institute Oregon Core Performance Prjct 2/26/08 11/30/08 48,400  23,374  25,026


Corvallis Environmental Center Corvallis initiative consult. 3/1/08 3/1/09 44,300  27,872  16,428


HST&V, LLC CEI pilot & PDC Transition 10/3/08 12/31/08 40,000  0  40,000


Portland General Electric PDC Transition agreement 10/1/08 12/31/08 35,000  0  35,000


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/08 32,000  31,255  745


Blue Line Innovations, Inc. Blue Line energy monitors 1/1/08 12/31/08 31,578  26,822  4,756


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 30,000  0  30,000


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  4,400  25,600


Seattle City Light MOA Lighting Design Lab 6/1/08 12/31/08 30,000  30,000  0


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Roseburg LIR - monitoring 3/1/08 12/1/08 28,000  5,930  22,070


KEMA Incorporated Billing Analysis Methodology 9/1/08 1/31/09 20,000  0  20,000


Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/08 15,400  6,051  9,349


City of Portland Office of Sust 2008 OSD Sponsorship 3/20/08 3/20/09 15,000  15,000  0


NW Natural Washington study 4/18/08 2/15/09 15,000  3,693  11,307


Geavista Group, Inc. New Homes QA 7/1/08 6/30/09 14,400  3,305  11,095


United States Department of 


Agriculture


Save Water/Save Energy 9/18/08 3/1/09 14,000  0  14,000


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/08 11,800  2,400  9,400


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 1/30/09 10,000  1,507  8,493


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


Emerging/underuntilized tech. 3/20/08 3/31/09 10,000  0  10,000







R00407 12/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 12/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/2008 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


November 2008


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/08 10,000  10,753 -753


Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship 


agreement


1/2/08 1/1/09 10,000  10,000  0


NW Natural Apogee data agreement 5/1/08 4/30/09 7,200  7,200  0


Mike Fenske PE Consulting 2/1/08 2/28/09 5,000  2,800  2,200


Energy Efficiency Total:  42,760,325  26,680,340  16,079,985


Joint Programs


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/08 92,767  37,297  55,470


Research Into Action, Inc. Res. Awareness Survey 4/1/08 12/31/08 70,000  41,850  28,150


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 68,440  28,739  39,702


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 63,300  45,801  17,499


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/09 51,830  14,759  37,071


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/09 45,325  45,325  0


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/08 42,500  39,325  3,175


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/08 39,000  33,850  5,150


Watkins and Associates, Inc. Residential solar values study 9/1/08 12/31/08 26,100  0  26,100


Luxurious Plumbing and Heating, 


Inc.


Solar  services 5/1/08 4/30/09 25,000  3,240  21,760


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis 2007 2/15/08 12/15/08 24,000  21,628  2,372


The Cadmus Group Inc. Billing Anal. Process Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 20,000  0  20,000


Demand Research, LLC Billing analysis & methodology 9/1/08 1/30/09 20,000  14,768  5,232


Stellar Processes, Inc. billing analysis evaluation 9/1/08 1/30/09 15,000  0  15,000


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC Planning services 9/15/08 9/14/09 7,000  0  7,000


Salesgenie.com Inc. Sales Genie Online 7/7/08 5/31/09 6,000  0  6,000


Dethman & Associates SER Pilot evaluation 9/1/08 1/10/09 5,000  0  5,000


Joint Programs Total:  621,262  326,582  294,680


Renewable Energy Program


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  255,950  1,429,138


Alder Solar LLC HAbilitation Center PV 1/18/08 12/31/28 1,236,750  0  1,236,750


Swalley Irrigation District Swalley irrigation hydro proj. 5/15/08 5/15/28 895,609  0  895,609


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/09 386,266  370,084  16,182


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 5/31/28 362,000  0  362,000


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services 4/1/08 3/31/10 148,832  55,726  93,106


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE New Markets Study 3/19/08 3/15/09 125,000  33,582  91,419


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 6/14/09 99,600  47,832  51,768


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/08 87,700  74,261  13,439


Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/08 85,150  81,774  3,376


Resource Consultants USDA Grant Workshops 9/1/08 7/31/09 83,000  9,000  74,000


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  77,390  2,425


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/09 71,500  22,812  48,688


Stephen F. Anderson RETAA 3/15/07 3/31/09 44,088  32,672  11,416


Stephen F. Anderson Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/08 42,130  22,997  19,133


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 6 (2009) 7/1/08 6/30/09 39,543  39,543  0


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/09 37,000  16,350  20,650


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


RE Consultant 9/1/08 8/31/09 36,000  5,813  30,188


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


Coquille Indian Tribe Coquille Tribe biomass study 1/22/07 12/31/08 30,000  0  30,000


Eastern Oregon Power & Light Co. Rock Creek hydro study 5/9/08 12/31/08 30,000  0  30,000


Clean Water Services Small wind technical assist. 8/22/08 7/31/09 30,000  616  29,384


City of Salem Willow Lake H2O Fac. bio study 8/12/08 1/31/09 30,000  0  30,000


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/09 28,200  23,828  4,373


CIty of Gresham hydro study City of Gresham 5/30/08 11/30/08 24,946  0  24,946


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 1/31/24 24,125  0  24,125







R00407 12/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 12/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 11/30/2008 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


November 2008


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 23,863  11,932  11,932


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/08 22,845  9,460  13,385


Hood River County School District Small wind demo project 6/25/08 6/25/23 22,600  0  22,600


Solar Energy Association of 


Oregon


Americorp position OR Solar 5/20/08 5/31/09 22,500  22,500  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/08 16,900  10,622  6,278


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/09 16,619  13,833  2,786


3EStrategies primary partner sponsorship 3/21/08 12/31/08 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/08 15,000  4,984  10,016


Northwest SEED Wind program outreach 8/22/08 12/31/08 15,000  15,000  0


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  2,170  10,981


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RETAA 6/7/07 5/31/09 13,100  4,166  8,934


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/08 13,000  10,753  2,247


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/09 13,000  2,416  10,585


David Bugni & Associates RE services 4/15/08 4/14/09 8,000  341  7,659


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/09 6,590  1,665  4,925


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/09 6,300  4,750  1,550


Renewable Energy Total:  6,493,309  1,284,819  5,208,490


 55,952,054  30,804,327  25,147,728Grand Totals:








 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated January 14, 2009 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly attributed 
to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 
and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 


charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well as 
current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and provide 
a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such as 
websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program delivery, 
Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, Travel, Business 
meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
Ø Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
Ø Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric 


measure savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 


energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








Energy Efficiency Resource Assessment
and


Supply Curves
2008 – 2027


February 11, 2009







2


Overview of presentation


Purpose: to show the Technical and Achievable, cost effective 
potential over the 20 year planning horizon.


• Discuss what is new to this update
• Describe the steps of the estimation process
• Present total potential for both PPL, PGE, NWN, and CNG.
• Provide estimates of potential by Sector and End Use.
• Talk about next steps:  Bundling measures into programs, and 


deploying programs over the 20 years.







3


What’s New?


• Updated utility data 
• Updated baseline, high efficiency specifications, 


and costs
• Added Benefit/Cost Ratios
• Addressed emerging technologies
• Industrial model can separate self direct and 


>1aMW 







4


New measures


• Home energy monitors
• Refrigerator recycling
• Minisplit heat pumps 
• New Energy Star homes 
• Heat pump water heater 
• Low Power Mode Appliances
• High efficient gas water heater 







5


Before You Start –
Decide On A Cost-Effectiveness Metric


• Participant Cost Test (PTC)
– Costs and benefits to the program participant


• Total Resource Cost (TRC)
– All Quantifiable costs & benefits regardless of who accrues 


them.  Includes participant and others’ costs
• Utility Cost Test (UTC)


– Quantifiable costs & benefits that accrue only to the utility 
system.  Specifically excludes participant costs


• Rate Impact Measure (RIM)
– Net change in electricity utility revenue requirements.


• Attempts to measure rate impact on all utility customers especially those that 
do not directly participate in the conservation program


• Treats “lost revenues” (lower participant bills) as a cost







6


Cost Benefit Tests


• BCR = NPV of benefits / Total Resource Cost 


• NPV of benefits includes: 
– Savings * Avoided Costs


• Avoided costs include adjustments for line losses, hedge 
value (electric only), and a carbon adder


• quantifiable non-energy benefits are also included







7


Inputs to Resource Potentials Assessment 
Methodology


• Availability
– Scope of measures


• Technologies


• Practices


– Applicability territory


• Number of units


• Units savings


– Achievable over time


• Retrofit


• Lost-Opportunity


• Costs
– Materials & labor


– Annual O&M


– Periodic Replacement


– Program Admin


– Externalities


– Other non-electric  







8


Summary of Technical Potential by Utility 
for the years 2008-2027


153
Total 
(Including cross-utility impact)


1515
Industrial


40238Commercial


972176Residential


Both Utilities, 
Mmtherm


CSG, 
Mmtherm


NNG, 
Mmtherm


Natural Gas Utilities


651
Total 
(Including cross-utility impact)


30582223Industrial


270123179Commercial


996732Residential


Both Utilities,
aMW


PPL,
aMW


PGE
aMW


Electric Utilities







9


2008 - 2027 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon 
Electric IOU’s


• 651 aMW of Technical Potential at $0.095/kWh Levelized cost


Electricity Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900


-$0.100 $0.000 $0.100 $0.200


Levelized Annual Cost, $/kWh


An
n


u
al


 A
ve


ra
g


e 
M


W


Technical
Achievable


Approximate
Cost-Effective


Screen







10


2008-2027 Sector Percentages of Technical Potential - Electric


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 651 MWa and Levelized Cost 
$/kWh, screened by BCR


Commercial at $ 0.030
42%


Residential at $ 0.034
12%


Industrial at $ -0.008
46%







11


2008 - 2027 Residential Sector - Electric


Resident ia l  Technica l  Potent ia l  76  aMW and 
Level ized Cost  $ /kWh,  screened by BCR


0 5 10 15 20 25


New Appl iance at  $ -0.159


New  L ighting at $ 0.072


New  DHW at $ 0.068


New  Construct ion at $ 0.050


Replace HVAC at $ 0.075


Replace DHW at $ 0.040


Replace Windows  a t  $  0 .011


Replace Appl iance at $ 0.000


Weatherize at $ 0.079


Lighting Retrofit at $ 0.024


HVAC Retrof i t  at  $ 0.042


a M W


Achievable
Technical







12


2008 – 2027 Commercial – Electric Potential


C o m m e r c ia l P o t e n t i a l  2 7 0  a M W  a n d  L e v e l i z e d  
C o s t $ /k W h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 10 20 30 40 50 60


N e w  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 0 2
N e w  W i n d o w s  a t  $  0 . 0 5 3


N e w  C o o l i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 1
N e w  A p p l i a n c e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 7


N e w  D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 1
N e w  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 5 1


N e w  R e f r i g e r a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 0 1 7
N e w  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 9


R e p l a c e  D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 0 5 0
R e p l a c e  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 0 2


R e p l a c e  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 0 3 6
R e p l a c e  C o o l i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 0


R e p l a c e  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 0 5
R e p l a c e  R e f r i g e r a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 0 1 7


R e p l a c e  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 3
R e p l a c e  A p p l i a n c e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 6


R e t r o f i t  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 0 1 6
T r a n s f o r m e r s  a t  $  0 . 0 1 0
R e t r o f i t  D H W  a t  $  0 . 0 3 7


R e t r o f i t  C o n t r o l s  a t  $  0 . 0 3 5
R e t r o f i t  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 2 9


R e t r o f i t  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 2 5


a M W


Ach ievab le
T e c h n i c a l







13


2008 - 2027 Industrial Sector – Electric Potential 


In d u s t r i a l  T e c h n i c a l  P o t e n t i a l  3 0 5  a M W  a n d  
L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / k W h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0


Cross -Cu t t i ng  Measures
Supp l y  &  T rans fo rme r  a t  $  0 . 002


Gener i c  O&M a t  $  0 .046
Ef f i c ien t  Motors  a t  $  0 .011


Ef f ic ien t  L ight ing  a t  $  0 .031
Pump E f f i c iency  a t  $  0 .004


Duct /P ipe Insu lat ion at  $  0 .019
A i r  Compresso r  a t  $  0 . 015


Senso rs  and  Con t ro l s  a t  $  - 0 .001
Fan  sys tem improvemen ts  a t  $  0 .004


Microw ave  P rocess ing  a t  $  0 .064
S e c t o r  M e a s u r e s


E lec t ron i cs :  p rocess  a t  $  -0 .060
Wood:  Rep l  Pneumat i cs  a t  $  -0 .031


E lec t ron i cs :  HVAC a t  $  -0 .053
Elect ron ics :  ch i l le r  a t  $  0 .005


Paper :  Re f ine r  Mod  a t  $  0 .039
Meta ls  a t  $  -0 .036


Paper :  Vapor  Recompr  a t  $  0 .014
Paper :  Ch lo rOxy  Mod a t  $  0 .012


Food :  Coo l ing  and  S to rage  a t  $  0 .015
Wood :  So f t  S ta r t  P ress  a t  $  0 .020


Ag I r r iga t ion  a t  $  -0 .514
Tra f f i c  &  A rea  L igh t s  a t  $  0 .049


a M W


Achievab le Techn ica l







14


2008 - 2027 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon 
Electric IOU’s with Emerging Technologies


Electricity Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0


200


400


600


800


1,000


1,200


-$0.100 $0.000 $0.100 $0.200


Levelized Annual Cost, $/kWh


A
nn


ua
l A


ve
ra


ge
 M


W


Technical
Potential
With Emerging
Technology







15


Emerging Technology Potential 


117Total


10HVAC Retrofit


2Heat Pump HW


23Lighting Retrofit


56Replace Appliance


2New Lighting


4New DHW


20New Appliance


aMW SavingsMeasure







16


2008 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon Natural Gas 
Utilities


• 151 Million therms of technical potential @ $.70/therm levelized cost


Gas Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0


50,000


100,000


150,000


200,000


250,000


$0.000 $0.500 $1.000 $1.500


Levelized Annual Cost, $/th


A
nn


ua
l k


Th
er


m
s


Technical


Achievable
Approximate


Cost-Effective
Screen







17


2008 Sector Percentages of Technical Potential - Oregon Natural Gas 
Utilities


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 153 Million therm and Levelized 
Cost $/th, screened by BCR


Commercial at $0.279
26%


Residential at $0.460
64%


Small Industrial at 
$0.259
10%







18


2008 – 2027 Residential Sector - Natural Gas Potential


Residential Technical Potential 76 aMW and 
Levelized Cost $/kWh, screened by BCR


0 5 10 15 20 25


New Appliance at $ -0.159


New Lighting at $ 0.072


New  DHW at $ 0.068


New Construction at $ 0.050


Replace HVAC at $ 0.075


Replace DHW at $ 0.040


Replace Windows at $ 0.011


Replace Appliance at $ 0.000


Weatherize at $ 0.079


Lighting Retrofit at $ 0.024


HVAC Retrofit at $ 0.042


aMW


Achievable


Technical







19


2008 – 2027 Commercial Sector - Natural Gas Potential


Commerc ia l  Po ten t i a l  40  M illio n  T h e r m s  a n d  
L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / t h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0
2,0


00
4,0


00
6,0


00
8,0


00


10
,00


0


12
,00


0


N e w  W i n d o w s  a t  $  0 . 5 0 9


N e w  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 1 6 6


N e w  W a t e r  H e a t i n g  a t  $  0 . 5 9 3


N e w  E q u i p m e n t  a t  $  0 . 4 7 1


R e p l a c e  W a t e r  H e a t i n g  a t  $  0 . 5 7 0


R e p l a c e  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 2 8 4


R e p l a c e  E q u i p m e n t  a t  $  0 . 4 5 9


R e p l a c e  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 1 4 4


Ret ro f i t  She l l  a t  $  0 .226


Ret ro f i t  Wate r  Hea t ing  a t  $  0 .331


Re t ro f i t  Equ ipmen t  a t  $  0 .141


M ill ion Therm


Achievable
Technica l







20


2008 – 2027 Industrial Sector - Natural Gas Potential


In d u s t r i a l T e c h n ic a l P o te n tia l 1 5  M T h e r m  
a n d  L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / t h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 6 0 0 0


R e p l a c e m e n t


D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  1 . 0 3 4


P r o c e s s  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 4 5 3


S p a c e  H e a t  a t  $  0 . 3 0 7


R e t r o f i t


D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 1 9 4


W e a t h e r i z a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 2 8 9


P r o c e s s  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 0 1 4


S t e a m  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 4 3 3


T h o u s a n d  T h e r m


A c h ie v a b l e T e c h n i c a l







21


Next Steps


• Program Budgets – Ramping in new measures, 
going deeper with existing programs (2 years).


• Deployment Scenarios (20 years).
• Integrate with utility IRP’s 








 


Executive Summary 
2008 Oregon Residential Awareness  


and Perception Study 
Funded By: 


 
 


Submitted To: 
Sarah Castor 


Philipp Degens, Ph.D. 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 


Prepared By:  


 


Jane S. Peters, Ph.D.  
Marjorie McRae, Ph.D. 


Jun Suzuki, MPA 
Mersiha Spahic 


Research Into Action, Inc. 


December 23, 2008 


 


 


 
 







   


 


2 


This report provides the results from the analysis of the 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness and 
Perception Study. In April 2008, Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (Energy Trust) commissioned a 
team of researchers, led by Research Into Action, Inc., to conduct the first residential research to 
gauge general awareness and perceptions of energy efficiency and renewable energy among 
Oregon residential households. A total of 1,205 interviews were completed by Research Into 
Action’s subcontractor Abt SRBI, Inc. during July through September 2008. The goal of this 
report is to provide findings and recommendations useful to improving Energy Trust’s marketing 
activities and energy-saving goals in the residential sector.  


SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 


Based on response to the survey, we estimate that about 6% of Oregonians have participated in 
Energy Trust programs and about 28% of Oregonians are aware of Energy Trust, with 71% 
aware of the Oregon State Energy Tax Credit program. Participants expressed satisfaction with 
the program and over 60% have recommended participation to people outside of their household. 


A variety of differences were found between participants in Energy Trust programs and those 
who have yet to participate. The following highlights some of the important findings: 


Energy Trust Awareness and Participation 


° Households that are aware of Energy Trust are more highly concentrated in the Portland 
metropolitan region. Energy Trust awareness was significantly higher among PGE 
customers and lower among other utility customers, particularly those of EWEB. 


° The most frequently cited medium through which households first learned about Energy 
Trust was from utility inserts and other direct mail.  


° Households with electric providers other than PGE have significantly lower participation 
rates in Energy Trust programs.  


° Characteristics associated with homeownership are common among participants: they are 
more likely to be single-family home dwellers, middle-aged primary householders, more 
educated, and have higher household income. 


° Nonparticipants are more likely to live in non-single family dwellings, have less 
household income and education, to be either older or younger than average, and to use 
electricity for heating.  


° Households that use natural gas as their primary energy source for heating are more likely 
to participate in Energy Trust programs. 


° Participants seem to be highly satisfied with Energy Trust services. 







  


 


3 


Attitudes, Belief, and Behaviors 


° Participants are more motivated to reduce their energy bill by installing efficient 
measures compared with nonparticipants, but their conservation attitudes and behaviors 
are the same as or worse than nonparticipants’.  


° Nonparticipants appear to be trying to reduce energy use by conservation actions, but not 
able to employ efficiency measures, primarily because of a cost barrier. 


° Nonparticipants hold more skeptical views than participants do toward “energy-efficient” 
products in cost, availability, and comfort.  


° More households in the Portland metropolitan and Willamette regions are convinced that 
Global Climate Change is real, compared to those that reside in the Southern or Eastern 
parts of the state. Oregon households, on average, hold about the same level of conviction 
as the national average. There appears to be no difference in the conviction that Global 
Warming is real between participants and nonparticipants.  


Green Power and Renewable Energy Option Programs 


° Participation in Green Power programs ranges from 7% to 17%. Among EWEB 
customers, awareness of such a program is significantly lower than for other electric 
utilities.  


° Participation and awareness among NW Natural customers of the renewable energy 
option program is very low.  


Market 


° More than half of the nonparticipants’ primary news source is television. Participants rely 
more on paper media and public radio. 


° Half of the participants express the intention to participate in Energy Trust programs in 
the near future by doing more efficiency improvements to their homes, whereas less than 
a quarter of nonparticipants have the intention to do so. 


Energy Consumption 


° Owner-occupied households have significantly more high energy consumers compared 
with renter-occupied households. Renter-occupied households use considerably less 
energy and this is consistent regardless of housing type. 


° Regional differences in energy consumption of owner-occupied households are 
significant. The Portland metropolitan area and Willamette/North Coast regions have the 
highest concentration of high consumption owner-occupied households, and the Southern 
and Eastern regions have low concentrations of high consumption households.  







   


 


4 


° High consumption owner-occupied households are significantly more highly educated, 
with higher incomes.  


° Very few differences in Energy Trust awareness and participation, energy use attitudes, 
perceptions, and behaviors were observed between low and high energy consumption 
households. 


CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


The main findings from the analysis suggest that Energy Trust has significant challenges, as well 
as opportunities for marketing and energy saving. The results suggest that the public is 
concerned about their energy use and the problem of Global Warming is becoming a more 
pressing issue to them. This signifies the importance of future efforts to inform the issue of 
energy efficiency and promote changes in their behaviors. In this light, we offer the following 
conclusions and recommendations: 


Conclusion 1: Five distinct market segments have emerged, which may have important 
implications to Energy Trust marketing strategies.  


• Strugglers (renter-occupied households) – have low to moderate market 
attractiveness 


• Progressive Savers (low energy consumption lifestyle) – have low to moderate 
market attractiveness 


• Main Street Oregonians – are one of the most attractive market segments  


• Willing and Able – are one of the most attractive market segments  


• Comfortably Established – are the most attractive market segment  


° Recommendation 1: Give the highest priority to reach the Comfortably Established, 
and then Main Street Oregonians and Willing and Able. If resources allow, provide 
CFLs particularly to Strugglers to enhance knowledge and gain savings.  


Conclusion 2: The public is confused by terminologies commonly used in the energy 
efficiency industry.   


° Recommendation 2: Prior to implementing future surveys, efforts should be made to 
test the terms used in the instruments that consumers use to describe energy 
efficiency, and energy conservation actions and behaviors. Brainstorm industry 
assumptions with focus groups to enhance survey effectiveness.  


Conclusion 3: The increasing use of cell phones as primary household phone lines 
challenges obtaining representative samples.  


° Recommendation 3: Employ more rigorous sampling techniques by including sample 
quotas for demographic variables that are available in census data, such as for 







  


 


5 


householder’s age and housing structure. Use of other advanced data collection 
technologies – such as web surveys or purchasing cell phone numbers – that allow 
for reaching cell phone-only households could be used in conjunction with 
traditional RDD techniques. 


Conclusion 4: A short survey is good for respondents, but not necessarily good for 
addressing every question.  


° Recommendation 4: Continue to use respectful, short surveys, but limit questions on 
participation and focus on behavior, awareness, decision-making, and market 
barriers. 


 








MEMO 
 


Date: January 22, 2009 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Sarah Castor, Market Research and Evaluation Analyst 
Brooke Graham, Residential Marketing Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study 
 
The 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study was a joint effort between 
Energy Trust's Marketing and Communications group and our Evaluation group. The 
purpose of the study was two-fold: 1) to gather information about the level of awareness  
Oregonians have of Energy Trust and 2) to better understand attitudes and behaviors 
surrounding the topics of energy efficiency, renewable energy and climate change. In the 
past, staff has attempted to some of this information through the survey portion of the 
Home Energy Solutions (HES) program evaluations and through an online Web site survey 
on our main residential page. However, these surveys were limited in that they were less 
comprehensive, only accommodated limited questions, and were not fully representative of 
the general population.  
 
The 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study provides results based on a 
representative sample of both homeowners and renters from Energy Trust service 
territories throughout the state. We plan to repeat the survey on an annual basis to track 
changes in responses over time. 
 
Of the population surveyed (approximately 1200), 28% were aware of Energy Trust and 
about 6% have participated in one of our programs. These figures are a few percentage 
points higher when the sample is limited to homeowners in our service territory. The 
highest awareness is concentrated mostly in the Portland Metro area, particularly among 
PGE customers. Awareness of Oregon Department of Energy Tax Credits, which have been 
in existence for approximately 30 years, was more than double the awareness of Energy 
Trust in our roughly 7 years. 
 
From survey results, it is clear that Oregonians are concerned about their home’s energy 
bills and believe that global warming is real. However, it does not appear that consumers 
currently associate energy efficiency as a high priority action to be taken in response to 
global warming. Energy Trust’s challenge is to leverage concerns expressed about global 
warming and link them to awareness of energy efficiency and renewable energy as ways of 
reducing carbon emissions. Such connections in messaging could help leverage increased 
program participation among certain consumers. 
 
To further focus on different consumer types, the survey responses identified five customer 
segments, three of which were recommended for targeting. Energy Trust marketing staff will 
develop marketing messages for the target segments and test them through focus groups or 
an additional survey. As part of the current survey, respondents were asked about 
willingness to participate in future surveys or focus groups and contact information was 
collected from those who were willing. This information has been paired with each 
respondent’s customer type, enabling Energy Trust to quickly put together an interview or 
sample survey group. 
 
The study also revealed that many Oregonians are unfamiliar with the term "CFL", even 
when they had installed such light bulbs in their home. This was equally true for all customer 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 
energytrust.org 







Staff Response to the 2008 Oregon Residential Awareness 
and Perceptions Study                                                                                            January 22, 2009 


2 


segments. Through the same focus groups or an additional focus group, staff would like to 
further explore consumers’ knowledge and use of energy terminology. This information 
would aid future survey development as well as communications with customers. 
 
In the next survey, we plan to reduce the number of questions on past Energy Trust 
participation and develop more questions about factors which influence customer decision 
making about home upgrades and purchases. This will assist us in understanding and 
potentially helping remove barriers toward taking action. 


 








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
January 20, 2009, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds, Roger Hamilton (by telephone), Margie Harris, Fred 
Gordon, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Peter West and John Volkman 
 
1. Information sharing rules and policy. Staff has completed work on a draft proposal to 
change the OPUC information sharing rules and the Energy Trust board policy to streamline the 
process by which Energy Trust and the utilities share information about energy users. OPUC 
staff is sharing the proposal informally with utilities and interest groups before initiating 
rulemaking (which John and Steve have been doing over the past 6 months). When we know 
more about the OPUC rulemaking schedule we will develop a coordinated schedule for board 
consideration of changes to the Energy Trust policy. In the meantime, we propose to brief the 
entire board on the proposal at the February meeting. We do not want rulemaking proceeding 
on a proposal that includes changes to Energy Trust board policy if the board is uncomfortable 
with them, but we also don’t want to ask the board to change the policy without knowing how 
the overall proposal is being viewed by the OPUC. John Reynolds asked what concerns the 
utilities had raised. John Volkman said they are concerned about Energy Trust directly 
contacting utility customers; staff agrees that Energy Trust and the utilities will need to 
coordinate so that these contacts are not duplicative or confusing, but think it would be a 
mistake to try to spell out any particular coordination process in the OPUC rules, which are 
hard to change. 
 
2. Cost-effectiveness update. Fred updated the committee on his work with the OPUC 
staff on cost-effectiveness screening. There will likely be several changes to avoided costs, most 
of which make conservation look more favorable: 


• Utilities are updating avoided costs mostly upward, due to fuel prices and higher 
forecasts of carbon costs.  


• The Regional Technical Forum is close to agreement on a new method for calculating 
savings in transformer and line losses from conservation, which should add 5-10% to 
energy savings.  


• PUC staff has agreed that because the value of tax credits aren’t counted in the cost of 
supply-side resources, they shouldn’t count toward the cost of efficiency in the societal 
benefit-cost analysis either. This will significantly improve the societal B/C for solar 
water heat and provide a moderate boost for other measures. We will adjust for state 
tax credits initially and decide how to approach federal tax considerations later. 


Our plan is to round up as many of the cost-effectiveness enhancements as we can by the end of 
February and get agreement and new screening tools out to programs by the end of March.   
  
3. Organization redesign. Margie updated the committee on the organizational re-design 
process, intended to ask how the organization can respond to the challenge of producing two or 
three times the energy savings/production it achieves now. She, Steve and Peter are continuing 
with outside consultants to develop a statement of work and schedule for the process. The 
composition of a Design Team has been designated. The goal is to have a statement of work in 
place by February 1, and have the first meetings in mid-to-late February. Three big meetings are 
anticipated: (a) Energy Trust workflow; (b) how our work could be more responsive to 
customers; and (c) whether we are organized to deliver much more energy savings/generation. 







Policy Committee Notes 
January 20, 2009 


2 


These meetings would include appropriate staff, PMC staff and others. The meetings will provide 
the Design Team with information; the Design Team will make recommendations to the 
Steering Group and be discussed with the Management Team; Margie will make decisions on 
matters within her purview and bring any board issues to the board. We don’t anticipate 
fundamental shifts in the Energy Trust model, but do want to present a more seamless, full-
service face to customers. We should have a pretty good idea of the recommendations and 
decisions by the June board retreat. 
 
This work will affect the Energy Trust strategic plan, so we propose to defer making any broad 
changes in that plan until fall. We can then digest the results of this process, by which time we 
should also know the results of the Oregon legislative session and the federal stimulus package. 
To make sure the strategic plan is workable in the interim, we will propose a minor adjustment 
at the February meeting: replacing the current 2012 goals with interim goals that reflect what 
we expect to do with Renewable Energy Act funds. 
 
4. New electronics home and business products program. PG&E (California) has initiated a 
program to provide incentives to national manufacturers and chain stores for more efficient 
electronic equipment for homes and businesses. The national entities are not interested in 
working on separate arrangements with hundreds of programs, so the PG&E initiative is 
designed as a platform for other program providers across the nation to join. Fred has explored 
the program with PG&E and thinks NEEA could help provide strategic direction for the 
program. The Northwest is likely to focus on televisions and home computer sales for 2009 and 
broaden the program to other electronics in 2010. The 2009 cost would be viewed as an 
investment in a potentially very useful long-term relationship. By getting an early seat, the NW 
can help assure a more effective initiative in 2010.   
  
Because NEEA funds are fully committed to other programs, Energy Trust and others (BPA and 
Puget) would have to provide additional NEEA funds. NEEA would like to start the program 
April 1. Energy Trust’s 2009 contribution would be around $1 million. However, increasing 
Energy Trust’s NEEA funding would require board authorization of: (1) a new program; (2) 
shifting funds within the budget; and (3) a change in the NEEA contract.  
  
The committee strongly endorsed the initiative and recommended that staff bring it to the 
board at its February meeting rather than waiting until April, which could delay it. Staff should 
prepare a background memorandum for the board packet, and alert the board that funding 
specifics will not be available before the board meeting. We should know how much we have in 
carry-over funds in late January, however, and staff should bring to the meeting a board 
resolution outlining funding specifics. 
  
5. Living Building Initiative fundraising. The Living Building Initiative (LBI) proposes to retain 
a consultant to raise funds for the Living Building. LBI is asking members to contribute funds to 
retain a fundraiser to scope out potential funding sources to lower the building’s cost. Members 
are asked to contribute based on their space needs, and Energy Trust’s contribution would be 
somewhere between $6500 and $10,000. This contribution would “keep us in the game,” 
without committing Energy Trust to the building itself. LBI would retain a consultant and report 
back on the results of the scoping effort. The scoping study will give LBI information that can be 
included in a pro forma, which all the LBI members will need to review before deciding whether 
to invest in the building. In addition, it is likely that a further contribution (perhaps more like 
$30,000 from Energy Trust) would be requested to carry out the fundraising effort. Margie does 
not need board approval for such an expenditure, but does not want to proceed without 







Policy Committee Notes 
January 20, 2009 


3 


discussing it with the board. John Reynolds supports the initiative – Energy Trust should 
demonstrate the ideas it is advancing for building owners and occupants. Jason supports that 
concept, but would like more information about what the “scoping” study would do, would like 
to be assured the money will be well spent, and would like more information about how the 
building will demonstrate innovations that can be replicated by others. Energy Trust involvement 
should not be premised on an open check-book, it would need to be disciplined. Margie agreed. 
The Management Team is discussing such questions as: how much of a premium would we pay 
for a living building? What features (specific energy characteristics, replicability, etc.) would it 
need? How might the OPUC react to the idea? Margie said Dennis Wilde of Gerding-Edlin and 
Clark Brockman of SERA Architects will brief the board on the building at the February meeting, 
and staff will raise the issue whether to make this contribution to a fund-raising effort.  
 
6. CAC membership. Mat Northway (from EWEB) is leaving the CAC. The committee 
approved Bill Welch as his replacement. 
 
7. Legislative update. The committee discussed various bills that have been introduced or 
are under discussion for the 2009 legislature. Margie briefed the committee on a request from 
the OPUC to sketch out how Energy Trust might use an infusion of stimulus funds in relatively 
short time frames (1-2 years). Staff developed a response over a day or two, and will make it 
available to the board. 
 
 
 








Briefing Paper 
Information Transfer Proposal 
February 11, 2009 


Summary 
 
Staff proposes to amend administrative rules of the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC), 
and related provisions of the Energy Trust board policy governing how utilities and Energy Trust 
share information about their customers and participants. No action is required at this time. 
 


Background 
 


• OPUC administrative rules (Attachment A) require utilities to provide Energy Trust 
with certain information about utility customers: consumer name, address, recent 
historical usage data, and other information. 


 
• The utilities’ obligation to provide this information is subject to certain conditions: 


information about consumers whose demand is less than one megawatt must be 
provided unless the customer opts out of information transfer. Information on 
consumers whose demand is more than one megawatt must be provided only if the 
consumer opts in to information transfer. 


 
• Because only some large users opt in and some smaller users opt out of information 


transfer, Energy Trust gets only partial information about potential program participants. 
We estimate that these “missing” customers represent roughly 20-30% of electric utility 
consumption.  


 
• Because the opt-in and opt-out processes are so awkward, some utilities work around 


them by providing fragmented information, e.g., meter and usage data but not names. 
These fragments create problems in providing service and evaluating programs. 


 
• Energy Trust public purpose funds (authorized by SB 1149) benefit all utility customer 


classes – residential, commercial and industrial. However, supplemental energy efficiency 
funds authorized by the Oregon Renewable Energy Act may not be used to benefit 
customers that use more than one megawatt. Because not all large users have opted 
into information transfer, Energy Trust does not have a full list of large customers, and it 
is difficult for Energy Trust to ensure that Oregon Renewable Energy Act funds do not 
benefit large customers. 


 
• The OPUC rules prohibit Energy Trust from using this information for direct mail or 


telemarketing or releasing the information without the consumer’s consent. Thus, 
Energy Trust cannot send information to potential program participants telling them 
how they can get help from Energy Trust programs. Staff believes this is a significant 
barrier to reaching more participants. 


 







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


2 


• The OPUC rule requires Energy Trust to secure, monitor and enforce confidentiality 
agreements with its employees, contractors, and contractors’ employees. There is a 
considerable administrative burden associated with this requirement.  


 
• The Energy Trust board has adopted a policy (Attachment B) requiring all information 


collected from Energy Trust program participants to be treated confidentially, except 
that for non-residential programs, Energy Trust may report certain information (name, 
city or county of business, Energy Trust incentive paid, and related energy savings or 
production) to the legislature, the OPUC and certain other government agencies.  


 
• Energy Trust is unable to share its participant information with the utilities without 


negotiating confidentiality agreements. This process makes it difficult for Energy Trust 
staff to collaborate with utility account executives and others to reach more deeply into 
potential markets. 


Proposal 
 


• The staff proposal would (a) eliminate the opt-in and opt-out processes from the OPUC 
rule; (b) eliminate the prohibition on Energy Trust using the information to make direct 
contact with utility customers (but still prohibit residential telemarketing); and (c) 
amend Energy Trust policy to allow freer exchange of information with the utilities.  


 
• The proposal would also update and refine the list of information provided to Energy 


Trust to help Energy Trust provide better service to customers, better savings estimates 
or better evaluations. In most cases, these changes would reflect current practice. 


 
• Finally, the proposal would streamline the process of obtaining and managing 


confidentiality agreements with Energy Trust contractors, their employees and 
subcontractors. 


Process and Schedule 
 


• Staff has gotten feedback on the proposal from the utilities, several interest groups, and 
the CAC. Staff has also submitted the proposal in draft to the OPUC staff. 


 
• The OPUC staff is seeking informal comment on the draft proposal, after which it will 


decide whether to propose rulemaking on the OPUC rules, which would require public 
notice, comment and an OPUC decision. 


 
• Once rulemaking is initiated and we are confident of the outcome, Energy Trust staff 


would ask the board to consider amending its information policy as shown in 
Attachment B. 


 
 







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


3 


ATTACHMENT A: OPUC Information Transfer Rules 
 
OAR 860-038-0540, Consumer Information 
 
(1) Subject to Commission approval, an electric company shall determine the proprietary 
consumer information that will be made available to its competitive operations, ESSs, affiliates 
and aggregators. An electric company shall file and maintain a tariff with the Commission that 
specifies the types of information, along with the prices, terms, conditions, and consent 
procedures associated with the transfer of such information to the entities described in this 
section. The provisions of section (1) do not apply to information transferred pursuant to 
section (2) of this rule. 
 
(2) An electric company shall transfer to the entity that administers the conservation and 
renewable public purpose funds described in ORS 757.612(3)(b)(A) and (B), hereinafter known 
as the Administrator, proprietary consumer information for a consumer whose demand is less 
than one megawatt (1MW) unless the consumer has opted-out of the information transfer 
pursuant to section (4) of this rule. A consumer shall be considered a less than 1MW consumer 
pursuant to criteria established by an electric company through its billing process. The transfer 
of such information shall be made pursuant to an Information Transfer Agreement, which is 
executed and maintained by an electric company and the Administrator. An Information 
Transfer Agreement shall specify: 
 


(a) The necessary database format and information that will be transferred; 
(b) The billing period, payment arrangements, and estimations of incremental costs 
incurred by an electric company for the transfer of the information; 
(c) Timelines for an electric company to notify consumers and transfer information to 
the Administrator; 
(d) Timelines for an electric company to provide updates to the Administrator for all of 
the usage data and revisions to the underlying database information; 
(e) A general non-disclosure statement as well as a specific non-disclosure agreement 
that each Administrator employee and contractor employee shall sign prior to having 
access to consumer information, including proprietary consumer information; 
(f) That the proprietary consumer information will be used by the Administrator to 
implement, administer, and evaluate energy efficiency and renewable energy programs 
and will not be used for telemarketing or direct mailings to consumers; 
(g) That the release of proprietary consumer information by the Administrator for any 
other purpose or to any other party shall not be made without consent of the 
consumer; and 
(h) Provisions for modification of the Information Transfer Agreement. If the 
Administrator and an electric company cannot agree on the terms and conditions of an 
Information Transfer Agreement, the Commission shall set the terms and conditions 
based upon input from the Administrator and electric company. 


 
(3) If the Administrator notifies an electric company that the proprietary information supplied 
by an electric company is insufficient, incomplete, or not usable, the Administrator and electric 
company will attempt to resolve the issue and if necessary, modify the Information Transfer 
Agreement. If the Administrator and electric company cannot resolve the issue, the electric 
company and the Administrator shall promptly seek Commission resolution of the dispute. An 
electric company shall, at a minimum, transfer the following proprietary consumer information 
to the Administrator: consumer name, service address, 18 months of the most recent historical 







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


4 


usage data provided on a per month basis, point of delivery identification number, and rate 
schedule for each consumer. An electric company shall also provide information about any 
energy efficiency program participation and type of space heat used by consumer to the extent 
that such information is available in the electric company's records. An electric company shall 
not provide social security numbers, billing and payment history, credit information, tax 
identification numbers, driver license numbers, life support information, or any medical 
information. An electric company shall also provide the Administrator with updates for all of the 
usage data and revisions to the underlying database information on a periodic basis subject to 
subsection (2)(d) of this rule.  
 
(4) An electric company shall provide consumers whose demand is less than 1MW an 
opportunity to opt-out of the information transfer. An electric company shall notify the 
consumers of the opt-out option by direct mail, company newsletter, or other acceptable 
communication as set forth in the Information Transfer Agreement. The notification shall at a 
minimum: 
 


(a) Identify and explain the role of the Administrator; 
(b) Identify the type of proprietary consumer information to be transferred by an 
electric company; and 
(c) Describe the nature and use of the proprietary consumer information by the 
Administrator. 


 
(5) An electric company shall notify in writing consumers whose demand is 1MW or greater 
(over 1MW consumer) to provide an opportunity to opt-in to the information transfer. 
Consumers shall be considered an over 1 MW consumer pursuant to criteria established by an 
electric company through its billing process. The notice provided by an electric shall comply 
with the requirement of section (4) of this rule. For consumers without a usage history, demand 
may be estimated by an electric company for the purpose of this provision and those consumers 
projected to meet the 1MW or greater demand shall be included. Consumers having multiple 
accounts may have their accounts treated as a group for the purpose of this rule and may 
include or exclude all accounts through one notification process. If the over 1MW consumer 
does not opt-in to the information transfer, all accounts shall be excluded from the information 
sharing process. The transfer of proprietary consumer information shall be in accordance with 
section (2) of this rule and the Information Transfer Agreement. An electric company shall also 
provide periodic opt-in notification for the over 1MW consumers either as a part of a standard 
consumer contact discussion or in writing pursuant to the timelines agreed upon in the 
Information Transfer Agreement and set forth in subsection (2)(c) of this rule. 
 
(6) When an electric company has provided proprietary consumer information to the 
Administrator in accordance with this rule, an electric company shall not be charged with at-
fault complaints filed with Commission's Consumer Services Division with respect to the 
provision of proprietary consumer information if the Commission finds that the electric 
company did not violate its tariff, Oregon Administrative Rules, Oregon Revised Statutes, or a 
Commission Order. 
 
 
 







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


5 


ATTACHMENT B: Energy Trust Policy on 
Information Submitted by Utilities, Program 
Participants, Contractors and Bidders 
 
Purpose: Energy Trust and its contractors acquire information from utilities, program participants and 
others. This document establishes Energy Trust policy on collection, use and disclosure of information 
about program participants. This policy also addresses confidentiality of contracts and bid information. 
The policy does not apply to information that is in the public domain. 
 


1. Energy Trust will inform participants the public of this policy.  
 


Participants in Energy Trust will inform the publicprograms will be advised of the contents of 
this policy by appropriate means (e.g., providing summaries or references oin Energy Trust 
program application forms, posting the policy on the Energy Trust web site, and oral 
communicationsand making it available on request),. Energy Trust and its contractors will 
offer participants a copy of this policy. 


 
 
2. Energy Trust protects information covered by utility information transfer 


agreements 
 


Utilities provide Energy Trust with information about energy consumers on 
condition that it is treated confidentially. This information is covered by 
“information transfer agreements” negotiated with the utility. Energy Trust will 
not afford access to information protected by utility information transfer 
agreements to anyone who has not signed a confidentiality agreement 
consistent with the information transfer agreements. However, if Energy Trust 
obtains written, oral (documented electronically or in writing), or electronic 
consent from an Energy Trust program participant, information relating to such 
participant is no longer subject to utility confidentiality agreements, and instead 
is governed by sections 4-5 of this policy. Energy Trust may disclose to utilities 
the names of Energy Trust program participants to ensure that Energy Trust 
information is accurate. 


 
3. Energy Trust and those it works with use Participant Information only for 


Energy Trust purposes 
 
A2. Participant Information covered by this policy. Utilities provide Energy Trust with 


information about their energy consumers pursuant to rules of the Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (see OAR 860-038-0540). Energy Trust and its contractors also acquire 
information directly from participants in Energy Trust programs. Insofar as information from 
either source refers to program participants or utility customers by name, address, or other 
personally identifiable characteristics, it is Definition of Participant Information: “Participant 
Information” under this policy. means information obtained from program participants that 
refers specifically to the participant by name, address, or other personally identifiable 
characteristics.  


 
B3. Protecting Participant Information generally.  







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


6 


 
A. Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors will use Participant 


Information only for Energy Trust purposes.  
 
B. Energy Trust will protect the confidentiality of all Participant Information by requiring 


all Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors to agree to specific non-
disclosure requirements in order to gain access to Participant Information.  


 
C. Contractors who receive Participant Information from Energy Trust may not: 


a. Disclose such information to any other party unless required by law or the 
other party has by contract or other written agreement agreed to protect such 
information consistent with this policy; or 


b. Use such information for any purpose other than implementation of Energy 
Trust programs. 


Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors will use Participant 
Information only for Energy Trust purposes. Contractors who receive 
Participant Information from Energy Trust may not disclose it to any other 
party unless required by law or the other party has by contract or other 
written agreement agreed to protect such information consistent with this 
Energy Trust policy. Contractors will consult with their Energy Trust contract 
manager when in doubt. 


 
4. Collaborative analysis. Energy Trust analyzes Participant Information and aggregates it 


with other information to plan, evaluate and report on Energy Trust programs. If consistent 
with section 3 and if the shared data do not reveal Participant Information, Energy Trust 
may share such aggregated information with other analysts, recognizing that some of these 
analysts work for organizations with their own information disclosure policies and 
requirements. 


 
5. Using Participant Information in marketing.  
 


 A. Before using Participant Information in case studies, brochures, press releases, 
advertisements, marketing or other publicity material, Energy Trust and/or its 
contractors will obtain participant approval.  


 
B. Energy Trust will not conduct telemarketing to residential participants or 


customers, but may use Participant Informationor utility customer information for 
other outreach or marketing activities relating to Energy Trust programs. Energy 
Trust will establish a process by which participants and customers may opt-out of 
such marketing and outreach and ensure that Energy Trust or its contractors do 
not use Participant Information to make unsolicited contact with a participant or 
customer. 


 
6. Information provided to utilities. Energy Trust will share Participant Information with 


utilities: (a) as part of coordinated energy efficiency or renewable energy activities; (b) if 
such Information is limited to the particular utility’s customers; and (c) involves the 
particular utility’s product or service. Energy Trust will not share one utility customer’s 
energy use with another utility. Utilities may use such information in connection with 
routine customer service surveys, but not otherwise to evaluate Energy Trust programs. 


 







Information Transfer Proposal  February 11, 2009 


7 


7. Participant Information provided to government entities 
 


A.  Energy Trust will treat residential program Participant Information as confidential. 
Energy Trust may report individual residential Participant Information if it does 
not identify the participant by name, address, telephone or other information that 
would allow identification of the individual. 


 
B.  For non-residential programs, Energy Trust may include the following information 


in reports to the Bonneville Power Administration, the legislature, the Oregon 
Public Utility Commission (“OPUC”) and other state agencies as necessary to 
meet Energy Trust responsibilities: 


 
§ participant name 
§ city or county of business  
§ Energy Trust services or incentive payments provided to the participant, 


or  
§ energy saved or generated as a result of Energy Trust services or 


incentives. 
 


C.  Before providing Participant Information other than information listed in section 
3.E(2)6.B, Energy Trust will obtain participant approval. 


 
8. Contracts 
 


A. Except for contracts that concern personnel matters, contracts to which Energy Trust is 
a party will not be treated as confidential. For purposes of this policy “contract” does 
not mean program application materials. 


 
B. If a contract specifically identifies as confidential sensitive business records or financial 


or commercial information that is not customarily provided to business competitors, 
Energy Trust will treat such information as confidential. However, Energy Trust may 
disclose all other information in the contract. 


 
C. Subject to litigation or other legal disclosure and/or audit requirements, Energy Trust 


will not disclose information marked as confidential and submitted in response to 
requests for proposals or other solicitations. However, the fact that a company 
submitted a bid will not be considered confidential. 


 
9. Audit 
 


Energy Trust will afford auditors full access to Participant Information for purposes of audit. 
 
10. Resolving issues 
 


In the event the OPUC requests from Energy Trust information that a participant has 
reasonably designated as Confidential Information, Energy Trust will follow the procedure 
specified in section 3.c of the Grant Agreement between Energy Trust and the OPUC 
(available at http://www.energytrust.org/Pages/about/who_we_are/puc_funding_agreement.PDF). 


 








 Board Decision 
Committee Assignments 
February 11, 2009  


 
RESOLUTION 505 


BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to appoint by 
resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 


2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on the 
following committees. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby appoints the following directors to the 
following committees for terms that will continue until a subsequent resolution 
changing committee appointments is adopted: 


 


Audit Committee  


 Julie Hammond, Chair 


 Alexis Dow, Metro 


 Jason Eisdorfer 


 Caddy McKeown 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Board Nominating Committee 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Alan Meyer 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
 


Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Al Jubitz 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 







Resolution 505 February 11, 2009 


 2 


 


Executive Director Review Committee 


 Caddy McKeown, Chair 


 Roger Hamilton 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Finance Committee 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Dan Enloe 


 Debbie Kitchin 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Policy Committee 


 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 


 Rick Applegate 


 Roger Hamilton 


 Caddy McKeown 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Program Evaluation Committee 


 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 


 Dan Enloe 


 Alan Meyer 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 


Strategic Planning Committee (formerly Innovation Task Force) 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Jason Eisdorfer 


 Al Jubitz 


 Lori Koho, OPUC 


 Betty Merrill, ODOE 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


2. The executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if authorized by 
the Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by:  Seconded by:  


Vote: In favor:  Abstained:  


 








 


 
 
87th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting 
Wednesday, February 11, 2009, 12:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (John Reynolds) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• December 19 meeting minutes   Action 


 
12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
  
12:15 p.m. Michael Brown, Direct Sales Manager 
 Sokol Blosser Vineyard 2 Information 
  
12:45 p.m. Committee Reports  
   
 Board Nominating Committee (Rick Applegate) 3 


• Election to new terms of office (R502)  Action 
• Election of officers (R503)  Action 
   


 Strategic Planning Committee (Rick Applegate) 4  
• Adopting interim amendments to the Strategic 
   Plan (R504)  Action 


 
 Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)   


• Form 990 requirements  Information 
   (Roy Abramowitz and Allison Elliott, Perkins & Co.)   
 


 Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 5 Information 
 
 Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 6 Information 
 
 Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 7  


• Information transfer proposal  Information 
 


2:10 p.m. President’s Report 
• Board committee appointments (R505) 8 Action 


 
2:15 p.m. Energy Efficiency Program (Jason Eisdorfer) 9  


• Authorizing an Efficient Electronic Equipment 
   Program (R506)  Action 
• Adding Energy Trust to BPA’s list of entities approved 


to receive conservation program funding contributions  Information 
• Energy efficiency resource assessment and supply 
   curves 2008-2027 presentation  Information 
• Resource Assessment  Information 


 







Agenda  February 11, 2009 


   2 


3:15 p.m. Staff report (Margie Harris)   
• Feature presentation: Living Buildings 
   Dennis Wilde, Gerding Edlen and Clark Brockman, SERA architects Information 
• Year-end update  Information 
• Highlights  Information 


 
5:00 p.m. Adjourn 
  


Please note: the next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Wednesday, April 1, 2009, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor,  
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  February 11, 2009 


   3 


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• December 19 meeting minutes  


 
Tab 2 Sokol Blosser Vineyard (Susan Sokol Blosser) 


• Energy Trust ad “Sokol Blosser Grows Green with Solar Powered Pinot” 
• Sokol Blosser Winery 2007 Sustainability Report 


 
Tab 3 Board Nominating Committee  


• Election to new terms of office (R502) 
• Election of officers (R503) 


 
Tab 4 Strategic Planning Committee 


• Adopting interim amendments to the Strategic Plan (R504) 
 
Tab 5 Finance Committee 


• November finance report 
• November monthly financials and statement of commitments 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 6  Program Evaluation Committee 


• Residential Awareness and Perception Study and staff response 
 
Tab 7 Policy Committee  


• Notes from January 20 meeting 
• Information transfer proposal 
 


Tab 8 President’s Report 
• Board committee appointments (R505) 


 
Tab 9 Energy Efficiency program 


• Authorizing an Efficient Electronic Equipment Program (R506) 
• Adding Energy Trust to BPA’s list of entities approved to receive conservation program 


funding contributions 
• Energy efficiency resource assessment and supply curves 2008-2027 presentation 
• Energy efficiency and conservation measure resource assessment for the years 2008-2027 


 
Tab 10 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes January 21 
 
 








 
Board Decision 
Authorizing an Efficient Electronic Equipment 


Program  
February 11, 2009 
 
Summary 
Authorize approximately $1 million for an efficient home and business electronic equipment 
program to be implemented by the NW Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA). At the time of this 
writing, Energy Trust is closing out its 2008 accounting books, a process to be completed by the 
time of the February 11, 2009 board meeting. Between now and then, the amount of carryover 
funds and other potential funding sources for this program will become known. At the board 
meeting, staff will provide a resolution enabling staff to undertake this program opportunity, 
outlined below, identifying corresponding Energy Trust funding sources, and authorizing 
contract amendments to implement the program.   
 
Background 


• The California utility Pacific Gas &Electric (PG&E) has begun a program that will provide 
incentives to national manufacturers and chain stores (e.g., Dell Computers, Best Buy) 
to sell efficient electronic equipment for homes and businesses. PG&E intends the 
program to be a platform for others across the nation to join. 


 
• Staff has explored the program with PG&E and believes it could be a valuable initiative in 


our state. The Bonneville Power Administration also supports this initiative, and Puget 
Sound Energy is actively considering 2009 funding. 


 
• The NW Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) would implement the program in the region, 


providing strategic direction based on deep experience with efforts of this kind, further 
complementing PG&E’s excellent work on a delivery system. NEEA would like to initiate 
the program in April. 


 
• Energy Trust’s share of 2009 funding would be approximately $1 million. After 2009, the 


program would be included in NEEA’s annual budget, to which Energy Trust contributes 
along with NEEA’s larger membership. Increasing Energy Trust’s NEEA funding to 
support this program in 2009 requires board authorization of: (1) a new program; (2) 
shifting funds within the budget; and (3) a change in the NEEA contract. 


 


Analysis 
• In Energy Trust service territory, the program is projected to save roughly 2.4 million 


annual kWh in 2009, avoid ___tons of carbon emissions, and secure an estimated ___ in 
peak savings. We estimate a first-year benefit/cost ratio of 1, which we view as 
conservative. We expect much higher benefit/cost in later years as efficiency 
specifications are upgraded, the program diversifies to additional technologies, and 
market share improves.   


 







Authorizing Efficient Electronics Program                          February 11, 2009 
 


2 


• We also believe the program will build support for and leverage faster and more 
stringent state and federal equipment efficiency standards. 


 
• This opportunity was reviewed against various candidate criteria for new investments 


that were discussed at the 2008 board workshop on innovation and risk, with these 
results:  


o Are there significant savings? Savings are likely modest in year one and then 
grow significantly. 


 
o Likelihood of Success: high. 


 
o Likelihood of changing the market: high. 


 
o Are these benefits likely to be shorter or longer-term? There would be some 


immediate benefits, with more in the second year. 
 


o Is it manageable? There are some challenges inherent in working with a new 
organization and, we believe these are manageable. No long-term commitment 
to PG&E is being made. 


 
o Is it an area of core staff competence? Yes, NEEA staff has the capability to 


implement this program in the region. It would be inefficient for Energy Trust, 
BPA or other individual utilities to undertake this work internally within their 
individual service territories.  


 
o Would the initiative have broad geographic impact? Yes, it would include 


wholesalers for smaller stores and chains reaching both rural and urban 
communities  


 
o How would it impact core Energy Trust programs? It would be complementary. 


 
o Other: This is an opportunity to achieve efficiency for products that are 


otherwise difficult to reach. 
 


• We did not anticipate this expenditure in the recently-approved 2009 budget. By the 
time the board meets on February 11, 2009, we will have determined the amount of 
unexpended (carryover) electric efficiency funds from 2008, updated revenues received, 
and determine whether the $1,000,000 can be funded from such sources. If not, staff 
will propose a reallocation of funds from other programs. Funding would be contingent 
on at least two other funders, Puget Sound Energy and BPA. 


 
• This program concept was endorsed by the Energy Trust Policy Committee and the 


Conservation Advisory Council. 
 


Recommendation 
Authorize the program outlined above, approve Energy Trust funding (to be provided at the 
board meeting), and authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and sign contract 
amendments to implement the program.  







Authorizing Efficient Electronics Program                          February 11, 2009 
 


3 


Note:  this is a draft resolution – the numbers will be made available at the time of the board meeting. 
 


RESOLUTION 506 
 AUTHORIZING AND FUNDING AN EFFICIENT ELECTRONICS 


PROGRAM 
 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. PG&E of California has begun a program that will provide 
incentives to national manufacturers and chain stores for efficient 
electronic equipment for homes and businesses and PG&E intends 
the program to be a platform for others across the nation to join. 


 
2. Energy Trust staff has explored the program with PG&E and 


believes it could be a valuable initiative, projected in 2009 to save 
roughly 2.4 million annual kWh, secure an estimated ___ in peak 
savings, and achieve efficiency in products that are otherwise 
difficult to reach. The benefits are expected to be significantly 
greater after 2009. 


 
3. The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) is the 


appropriate entity to carry out this work, and is prepared to do it. 
 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors:   
 
1. Authorizes a new Efficient Electronics program;  
 
2. Authorizes movement of $_____ from [carryover and/or program 


budgets] in the 2009 budget to a 2009 Efficient Electronics program 
budget; and  


 
3. Authorizes the executive director to contract with the Northwest 


Energy Efficiency Alliance to carry out this work. 
 
 


Moved by: _____________   Seconded by: _______________ 
 


Vote:    In favor: _____   Abstained: ______ 
 


  Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for no vote] 








 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 86th Meeting 
December 19, 2008 
 
Board members present:  Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, 
Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds; by telephone conference: Roger Hamilton, Al 
Jubitz, John Savage, ex officio, Betty Merrill, ODOE Special Board Advisor 
 
Board members absent:  Rick Applegate, Julie Hammond, Preston Michie 
 
Staff attending:  Christian Conkle, Phil Degens, Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Erin Johnston, 
Betsy Kauffman, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Elaine Prause, Pati Presnail, Thad Roth, Sue Meyer 
Sample, Jan Schaeffer, Kate Scott, Greg Stiles, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Joe Barra, PGE; Margie Bashour, Lockheed Martin; Jerry Bryan, Farmers 
Irrigation District in Hood River (by telephone conference); Paul Berkowitz, CSG; Mike 
Costanti, Western Community Energy; Alecia Dodd, CSG; Andres Morrison, Ecos; Nick 
Parsons, Lockheed Martin; Abigail Spring; Lila Spring 
 
 
Business Meeting 
President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 1:15 pm.  
 
November 12, 2008 meeting minutes. Alan Meyer questioned the accuracy of a clause 
attributed to Fred on page 10, next-to-last paragraph. Fred said the clause was inaccurate; it was 
removed from the minutes.  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the November 12, 2008, meeting, as amended: 
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Alan Meyer 


Vote: In favor: 9 (Al 
and Roger by 
phone)  


Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


General Public Comment 
 
There were none.  
 
 







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


2  


President’s Report 
 
John Reynolds introduced the possibility that Energy Trust might participate in developing and 
occupying a “living building.” He showed images of the “Jasmine Tree site.” The new MAX line 
passes it. The existing trolley line will be rerouted to go diagonally through the site. Sue Meyer 
Sample said the timeline for release of a City of Portland request for proposals for preliminary 
design services will be in early January. The board will receive more information on the proposal 
and Energy Trust’s potential involvement at the February board meeting.  
 
Energy Efficiency 
 
Resolution 500 authorizing an increase in the RHT Engineering Program Delivery 
Contract. Steve Lacey explained that the Production Efficiency Program Delivery Contractor, 
RHT Engineering, has delivered more projects than expected in 2008, exceeding its best-case 
goal by 24%, and has exhausted its contract budget. RHT believes it can deliver another 5,000 
MWh of projects in 2008 if an additional $20,000 was added to its budget to complete this 
work. Because the total contract amount would exceed $500,000, the board needs to approve 
any additions. 
 


RESOLUTION 500 
AUTHORIZING INCREASE IN THE RHT ENGINEERING  


PROGRAM DELIVERY CONTRACT 
 
WHEREAS: 


1. RHT Engineering is a program development contractor for the Energy Trust 
Production Efficiency Program.   


2. Its 2008 program delivery contract is for $862,200 (not including performance 
compensation payable if the best-case savings and commitment goals are 
exceeded). The best-case savings goal is 25,000 MWh. 


3. RHT has completed 31,000 MWh in efficiency projects, exceeding its best-case goal 
by 24%.   


4. RHT believes that it can deliver another 5,000 MWh of projects in 2008, but its 
contract lacks funds to pay for it. The additional work represents about 1.5 weeks of 
regular program delivery work at a cost of $20,000.   


5. As a whole, the Production Efficiency program is expected to complete just over 
78,000 MWh in savings, 87% of the program’s best-case goal. Since September 2008, 
20,000 MWh of 2008 Production Efficiency savings has been deferred to 2009 by 
companies experiencing difficult market conditions and restricted access to capital.  


6. With an additional 5,000 MWh from RHT, the program can be expected to achieve 
93% of its best-case goal.  







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


3  


IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors authorizes the executive director to sign an amendment to the RHT 
Engineering program development contract increasing the contract amount from 
$862,200 to $882,200, plus performance compensation. 


 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Dan Enloe 


Vote: In favor: 8 (Al and Roger 
by phone) 


Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Debbie Kitchin was out of the room during presentation of this resolution and the vote. 
 
Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors.  
 
 


2009-2010 Action Plan and 2009 Budget 
 
Resolution 494 approving 2009 Budget. Margie introduced the budget. Steve Lacey said the 
year-end forecast now expects to achieve about 90% of the best case electric goal and to 
exceed the best case gas goal.  
 
Reviewing underlying budget assumptions, Margie said we will continue to monitor impacts of 
the economic downturn as the year progresses and to remain flexible and responsive. We are 
focusing on new audiences with little prior participation, including small commercial and small 
industrial customers. She noted we will emphasize some behavioral changes, which can lead to 
savings and we will need to figure out how to quantify those savings. Incorporating our market 
research, we will do more to match messages and marketing strategies with particular target 
audiences. We believe the “green wave” will remain a driver for some customers, given the 
emphasis placed on climate change and carbon emissions by the new federal administration and 
our governor. She noted also the emphasis on making participation easier for consumers.  
 
Margie noted comments received on our draft budget and our responses to them, including: 


• Restore multifamily budget -- $350,000 
• $540,000 in budget to address 60%-80% of median income also includes additional 


multifamily sector funds 
• Providing staff ability to move funds within sectors (a request later on today’s agenda) 


would foster more flexibility in the budget 
• Other changes include more funding for Living Wise kits, which are high in demand  


 
Roger Hamilton, by phone, asked whether the additional funds for multifamily reflects economic 
conditions. Margie said economic factors are resulting in more demand for multifamily (rental) 
housing and that we have heard that now would be the wrong time to withdraw funding from 
that sector.  
 







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


4  


Comments on the draft budget received from utilities included: 
• Support for continued collaboration with utilities 
• The importance of high customer satisfaction scores, resulting from customers who 


perceive their utility supports and helps them with energy efficiency 
• The importance of meeting our efficiency goals for utilities, who in turn count on and 


incorporate them in their integrated resource plans 
• Interest in testing on-bill financing; possibly through a City of Portland pilot early in 2009 


 
Margie then summarized changes from the draft to the final proposed budget: 


• Available carryover increased to $1.8 million 
• $0.5 million decrease in Pacific Power revenue 
• Increase expenses totaling $3.6 million ($2.3 million renewables, $1.3 million efficiency) 
• Electric savings reduced very slightly from 42 aMW to 41.6 aMW; Note: savings are up 


23% compared to 2008 
• Gas savings down very slightly from draft; for perspective, gas savings are up 2% over 


2008 forecast 
 
Margie then summarized staff requests and noted the growth in the industry happening around 
us. She thinks we are not growing as rapidly as we once did. She does not anticipate coming 
forward with increases of large magnitude in future years unless we are asked to do something 
different or more.  
 


• Proposing 4.5 new positions 
A new Web/e-communications manager to create in-house capacity to use the web 
strategically. This is a capacity we have not had; to this point and the web is the 
primary communication tool we have with new and existing customers and trade 
allies.  
A new business systems analyst 
A new finance administrative assistant 
A new business sector coordinator  
Increasing a ½ time marketing administration position to full time 


• 2 additional positions are proposed as conversions from current contractors: a 
residential coordinator and a senior reporting analyst in finance and administration 


 
John Reynolds said, given the unemployment situation, we are fortunate to have a clear need for 
positions and the ability to fund them. Jason Eisdorfer noted the growing interest in the energy 
sector among recent college grads.  
 
Margie compared budget goals to our OPUC targets. Little has changed since the draft budget 
was presented.  
 
Margie noted a response to John Klosterman's question in November about what market 
indicators we will need to track to gauge what impact the economy may have on our programs, 
including participation levels and potential savings/generation targets. Energy Trust will track the 
following market indicators on a quarterly basis: 


• Residential sector: housing permits, length of building vacancies, ODOE tax credit 
activity 


• Commercial sector: permits for commercial remodels, new building permits, ODOE tax 
credit activity 







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


5  


• Anecdotal comments from PMCs/PDCs 
• Roundtables and conversations with trade allies 
• Project counts in pipeline and actual completed vs forecasted projects 
• Monthly and quarterly comparisons to historic volumes 


 
Debbie noted the budget supports expanding Home Performance with Energy Star. She recalled 
comments from WISE about difficulties with this program. She noted it hasn’t been evaluated 
yet but asked for insight into the complaints. Paul Berkowitz said he thinks the concerns are 
about a software program. He is trying to find a user-friendly 75-minute audit rather than the 
current 3-hour audit.  
 
At Margie’s request, Paul then described components of a Home Performance audit, including 
blower door testing. Paul said last year he determined 23% of people receiving Home Energy 
Reviews installed measures, a figure in keeping with national averages. In a more recent 
performance evaluation, that percentage rose to 40%. This higher score stems from evaluations 
indicating that people install different measures over time.  
 
Debbie asked about the plan for serving the 60-80% of median income sector. Steve Lacey said 
Ecos Consulting is wrapping up its work in this area for NW Natural in the spring. He said we 
will take that program and incorporate it into our Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes 
program in 2009.  
 
Alan Meyer commended staff on switching from the term “best case” to “stretch goal, ” noting 
this was done for the efficiency section only and should be adopted for the renewables budget 
as well. A “best case” goal is not best case if we exceed it, as we have done for the so-called 
best case gas goal this year. 
 


RESOLUTION 494 
ADOPTION OF 2009 BUDGET 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
approves the 2009 budget as presented in the board packet: 


 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin 


 


Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 9 (Al and Roger 
by phone) 


Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


  
Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


6  


Resolution 493 approving 2009-2010 Action Plan. 


RESOLUTION 493 
ADOPTING 2009-2010 ACTION PLAN 


BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors approves 
the two-year 2009-2010 Action Plan as presented in the board packet: 
 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 9 (Al and Roger 
by phone) 


Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
Resolution 497 approving funding for Farmers Irrigation District Pressurization Project. 
Betsy Kauffman presented information on this topic, supported by Jerry Bryan of the Farmers 
Irrigation District in Hood River, who participated by telephone. Betsy explained that 
improvements to the irrigation system, including enclosing canals in pipes, eliminating leakage, 
evaporation and spillage, leads to higher flow and generating capacity. Betsy explained a 
methodology for attributing project costs to both efficiency and renewables, resulting in a $1.32 
million renewable project and a $1.3 million efficiency project. The resolution below explains 
the incentive levels.  
 
Alan Meyer asked what features of the project improve efficiency. Jerry Bryan said the piping 
permitted removal of inefficient pumps. Alan asked if the cost for efficiency is high. Elaine Prause 
said the 20-year life of the measure supports the payment.  
 


RESOLUTION 497 


AUTHORIZING FUNDS FOR THE FARMERS IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
PRESSURIZATION PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 


1. Farmers Irrigation District (FID) proposes to increase renewable energy generation by 
approximately 465 megawatt-hours per year at its existing hydroelectric plant by 
replacing open, gravity-fed canals with pressurized pipes and equipment that regulates 
water use. The same system will save approximately 481 MWh per year in energy from 
pumping. 







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


7  


2. Because the project generates and saves electricity from the installation of common 
and inseparable components, staff allocated project costs based on the percentage of 
electricity generated or saved: 49.2% to renewable generation and 51.8% to efficiency.  


3. The energy saved warrants an energy efficiency incentive of $154,067, which Energy 
Trust will offer through the Production Efficiency program, which requires no board 
action. 


4. The above-market cost of the renewable energy part of the project is $590,984. 
Combined with state energy tax credits, power revenues and other savings, an Energy 
Trust renewable energy incentive of $225,000 will make the project feasible. 


IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of 
Directors: 


1. Authorizes an incentive of $225,000 to offset the above-market costs of the renewable 
energy generation portion of the Farmers Irrigation District Pressurization Project. 


2. The executive director is authorized to sign an agreement to pay such incentives 
provided Energy Trust takes title to at least 38% of the project’s green tags (renewable 
energy certificates). 


 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer 


 


Seconded by: Dan Enloe 


Vote: In favor: 9 (Al and Roger 
by phone) 


Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0  


 
 


Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Resolution 495 authorizing funds for the Madison Wind Project. Erin Johnston, renewable 
energy project manager, described this project near Hermiston, with 16 50-kW turbines. The 
proposed incentive of $908,500 represents 48% of the above-market costs. Energy Trust would 
claim a proportional share of the green tags. The project introduces 50-kW turbines to Oregon. 
Alan Meyer asked what discount rate we used when paying over six years instead of up front. 
Erin said we used a 12% discount rate, the low end of the range we apply. Al Jubitz thinks this is 
a high rate. Alan said if we used a 6% rate, we would get more of the green tags and they would 
get the same amount of money. Peter West said we surveyed the market and determined the 
payment we are making is needed to move the market. Dan noted the 12% may go up or down 
over the next few years, and asked if we could re-set the rate. Alan said he would be more 
comfortable if Energy Trust were to keep more of the green tags. John Reynolds noted board 
approval of the resolution gives staff the green light to negotiate. He suggested staff be sensitive 
to the possibility of retaining a greater share of the tags. Peter is happy to bring back more 
information on green tag scenarios. Discussion continued about whether to change the 
resolution to require staff to negotiate to obtain a higher percentage of green tags.  







Discussion Minutes                           December 19, 2008 
 


8  


 
RESOLUTION 495 


APPROVING FUNDS FOR THE MADISON WIND PROJECT 
 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. Madison Development LLC proposes to construct the Madison Wind 
Project.  The project will have a name-plate capacity of 0.8 MW, expected to 
generate 1,616 megawatt-hours (MWh) per year.  


2. The project would sell its output to Pacific Power under standard QF terms 
and offset about 614 tons of CO2 per year. 


3. Energy Trust analysis shows the project’s above-market costs to be about 
$1.277 million. 


4. The applicant seeks an incentive of $908,500, which would cost Energy Trust 
about $4.94 million per aMW, calculated on a cash basis. In comparison, the 
Small Wind program standard commercial incentive for one 50 kW 
Entegrity wind system costs about $5.62 million/aMW. 
 


It is RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 


1. An incentive payment to Madison Development LLC of up to $908,500 to be 
paid on production over 6 years from the 2008 Wind program budget for the 
proposed project; and 


2. Energy Trust shall take ownership of at least 48% of the project’s green tags 
annually for the project’s first 20 operating years. 


3. The executive director may negotiate and sign an agreement consistent with 
the terms of this resolution.  


 Moved by: Dan Enloe Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


 


 Vote: In favor: 9 (Al and Roger by phone) Abstained 0 


  Opposed: 0 
 


Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


Committee Reports 
 


Finance/Compensation Committee. John Klosterman introduced the resolution. The compensation 
committee has reviewed the Energy Trust annual employer contribution to the 401K. The 
committee has recommended an ongoing employer contribution of 6% with no requirement for 
employee match.  
 
Al Jubitz complimented John for leading the committee through this process. He thinks the 
committee continues its work to assist Margie in all aspects of compensation. He would like to 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


9 


change the resolution to apply to this year only rather than continuing the 6% into the future. Al 
prefers the policy to require a match.  
 
John Klosterman feels that asking the board to authorize the 3% each year above the 3% safe harbor 
requirement is too much of a “line item” approach. He thinks the board should be setting overall 
compensation caps and allow Margie to manage within that. Margie noted we have a good voluntary 
employee 401K contribution rate with roughly 83% of employees participating. Those who don’t 
contribute tend to be younger and occupy lower-paying positions. She is uncomfortable requiring 
these individuals to contribute. John said the committee did not think adding a match requirement 
would have much effect in light of the large number of staff who now contribute voluntarily.  
 
Al suggested amending the resolution to be in effect for 2009 and not into the future. Alan Meyer is 
comfortable with the resolution as is, because we have the option of revisiting the amount or not, as 
the board might wish. Al’s amendment failed due to absence of a second.  


RESOLUTION #496 


AUTHORIZING EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE ENERGY TRUST OF 
OREGON, INC. 401(K) PLAN 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust 410(k) retirement plan is a “Safe Harbor” plan, which requires a 
mandatory 3% employer contribution to each employee’s account and permits 
employers to make discretionary contributions above 3%. Each year since Energy 
Trust began, the board has authorized an additional discretionary contribution of 
3%. 


2. At its December, 2007 meeting, the board asked the compensation committee “by 
fall, 2008 to oversee a further comparison of 401(k) contribution levels in the 
context of overall compensation/benefit packages, and consider the advisability of a 
401(k) employer matching contribution.” 


3. The committee has reported to the board in executive session (see Energy Trust 
Bylaws, Section 3.19.1, “Executive Sessions”), on this subject in light of extensive 
analysis done with assistance from outside compensation and benefits consultants 
over the past year. The committee recommended that the board authorize a 6% 
employer contribution (3% mandatory plus 3% discretionary) to the Energy Trust 
401(k) plan, to continue year-to-year unless and until the board decides to change 
it. 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
authorizes a three percent discretionary employer contribution to the Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc. 401(k) plan in addition to the three percent mandatory employer Safe 
Harbor contribution, to continue year-to-year unless and until the board decides to 
change it. 


 


Moved by: Dan Enloe 


 


Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 8 (Roger by 
phone) 


Abstained: 0 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


10 


 Opposed: 1   


Al Jubitz voted no. stating he does not want to 
lock in a practice (of 6% employer 
contribution) that the board has 
been uncomfortable with in the 
past . 


 
 


Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Strategic Planning Committee John Volkman said he thinks the demand response/smart grid workshop 
January 22 is shaping up. The first portion of the workshop is an introduction to smart grid and 
demand response, while the second part covers the potential utility/Energy Trust role. John 
Reynolds urged board members to participate.  
 
Audit Committee. No report.  
 
Policy Committee. John Volkman introduced a proposal to amend the program approval process to 
allow staff to move budgeted funds within the same sector but not between sectors or between 
efficiency and renewable programs. Jason asked whether staff will report on such changes. John 
Reynolds said the resolution states the staff will provide an update of the action taken at the next 
board meeting. Alan suggested including that language in the policy as a new #4. John will change the 
final paragraph of the resolution to state “and including a new subparagraph 3 in the policy itself 
directing staff to provide an update.” This will be added into the policy as well.  


 
RESOLUTION 498 


AMENDING THE PROGRAM APPROVAL PROCESS  
 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. The current board policy on program approval (attached) provides that the 
board must approve any shift of budget funds between programs.  


2. Allowing staff flexibility to move budgeted funds between programs within 
the same program sector (residential, commercial and industrial) would 
allow Energy Trust to respond more quickly to market changes and 
demands and to capitalize on new opportunities. 


3. This flexibility will be particularly valuable in the challenging economic times 
we expect in the coming year(s). 


4. Staff will provide an update of the action taken at the next board meeting. 


 
It is RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
amends the policy on the Program Approval Process by: 
 
1. Revising section 1.a to read: “staff may move budgeted funds from one 


program to another within the same program sector (residential, 
commercial and industrial) without board approval.” 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


11 


2. Inserting a new paragraph four into the “Resolved” section of the policy 
stating “Staff will provide an update to the board on any movement of funds 
from one program to another at the next board meeting following such 
movement,” and renumbering the succeeding paragraphs. 


 


 Moved by: Dan Enloe Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


 


 Vote: In favor: 9 (Al, Roger by phone) Abstained 0 


  Opposed: 0 
 


Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


 


4.22.000-P Program Approval Process  
  
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision February 16, 2005 Approved (R319) February 2008 


Policy Committee April 15, 2008 No changes April 2011 
  
Purpose: 


  
1.      Historically, the Board has approved programs in resolutions that specify 


projected energy savings and cost/aMW and estimated budget allocations for 
such items as incentives, marketing, administration and evaluation. Specific 
terms of program management have typically been addressed in separate 
resolutions authorizing program management contracts.  
  


2.      Experience has shown that if staff and contractors adhere to the original 
terms and conditions identified in Board resolutions authorizing programs, 
the programs may lose momentum while staff seeks approval to change 
program delivery, and considerable Board and staff time are consumed in 
complex and confusing adjustments. 
  


3.     Energy Trust has enough experience with these programs to warrant 
revising this process to make it more efficient.  
  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
  


1.      That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors hereby authorizes 
all existing programs to:  


a.   Operate under a not-to-exceed budget cap established by the Board 
in the annual budget approval process or by special resolution; staff is 
authorized to manage the program within this budget until the next 
annual budget review; staff may not move budgeted funds from one 
program to another within the same program sector (residential, 
commercial and industrial) without board approval.  







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


12 


b.   Be managed to achieve a best-case energy savings and cost/aMW 
goal, recognizing that actual performance may achieve only a more 
conservative level below which the program would be reevaluated. 
  


2.   The Board will continue to review and approve program management 
contract terms. 


  
3.   Staff will provide the Board with quarterly status reports based on energy 


savings by program and sector (not individual contract). Reports would 
identify variances and reasons for them, including: 


a.   Where long-term cost-effectiveness is trending ($/aMW or levelized 
cost per kWh and therm) compared to the most recent action plan 
forecast, and whether the program is apt to be cost-effective once it 
    hits steady-state.  


b.   Whether the program is expected to achieve significant savings over 
its life. 


c.   If a quarterly report shows that a program is trending below the 
conservative end of its authorized $/aMW range, the Board may call 
for an action plan to address the short-fall. 
  


4.     Staff will provide an update to the board on any movement of funds from 
one program to another at the next board meeting following such 
movement. 


 
55. The Board retains discretion to modify or discontinue a program if it is not 


meeting expectations. 
  
66.  The Board will review program status at Board meetings on a rotating basis 


so that all programs are reviewed over the course of a year. 
  
77. The Board will use the budget and action plan process to review, modify and 


adjust program budget caps. 
  
  


John Volkman said staff proposes to eliminate from the Combined Heat and Power Policy language 
pertaining to how the policy initially was to have been implemented. He said this change is very nearly 
editorial.  
 


RESOLUTION 499 
AMENDING COMBINED HEAT AND POWER POLICY  


 
WHEREAS: The current board policy on program approval (attached) outlines 
implementation steps that now have been completed.  


 
It is RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
amends the CHP policy to delete references to implementation steps (section 2 
of the current policy) that have been completed. 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


13 


 


 Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


 


 Vote: In favor: 9 (Al and Roger by phone) Abstained 0 


  Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 19, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 


4.11.000-P Combined Heat and Power Policy 


 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Board Decision December 19, 2002 Approved (R149) March 3, 2004 


Board March 3, 2004 Reviewed-No 
Change 


February 2005 


Board February 16, 2005 Reviewed & 
deferred for 6 


months 


August 2005 


Board September 7, 2005 Revised (R348) Report to board in 
early 2006; review 
implementation in 


9/08 
 
 
Introduction 
 
Combined heat and power (CHP) projects may have certain economic and environmental advantages, 
including potential energy efficiencies, which make them of interest to the Energy Trust.  
 
Energy Trust currently supports only renewable energy CHP projects, small market transformation CHP 
projects, and the use of waste heat for limited purposes. 
 
The Oregon Public Utility Commission has encouraged the Energy Trust to support CHP projects that 
reduce customers’ on-site energy requirements. 
 
Policy 
1.   Replace the existing CHP policy (resolution 149) with the following:  


a. In addition to incentives under current policy, Energy Trust should offer incentives for CHP 
generation that is more cost-effective than the alternative resource and would be used on-site, 
not for sale (other than utility buy-sell arrangements). 


b.   Energy Trust will use budgets and structures of existing building and production efficiency 
programs, and adjust incentives to reflect any higher level of risk compared to other industrial 
projects. 


c.   Energy Trust will evaluate projects using a cost-effectiveness methodology that is comparable to 
that used for other industrial projects, but which accounts for unique CHP features. 


d.   Energy Trust will limit eligibility to facilities that use Pacific Power or PGE electricity. 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


14 


e.   Energy Trust will provide no higher incentives for CHP projects funded through efficiency 
programs than comparable CHP projects funded through the renewable program. 


 
2.   Implement the policy as follows: 


a. September-November: 
 i. work with Power Council staff to develop estimates of alternative costs for typical large  


CHP projects; 
 ii. work with PUC staff to develop a way to credit CHP generation toward Energy Trust 


energy efficiency savings goals 
b. October-January: select a consultant and develop rules for determining eligibility; procedures, 


cost-effectiveness, etc. 
c. Report to the board in early 2006, or as soon as this program element is ready to be launched. 
d. Review implementation in two years to see if adjustments are desirable to promote a more 


diverse CHP portfolio (as opposed to a few big projects). 
 


Program Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin presented notes from the November 19 evaluation 
committee report. The committee reviewed the Existing Buildings 2006 and 2007 Impact Evaluation. As 
the programs become more mature and penetrate deeper into the marketplace, we encounter some 
areas suggesting need for redesign, in this case a very high free rider rate. Jason Eisdorfer asked if, during 
this time of heightened interest in sustainability, should free ridership still be a concern? Phil Degens, 
evaluation manager, said we continue to need to monitor markets. High free ridership may signal 
incentives are too low or too high. Alan Meyer thinks it is helpful to know about free ridership but 
thinks the savings should be counted, because they happened. Discussion of free ridership and how 
other organizations count them continued.  
 
Debbie noted the committee also reviewed the Residential Awareness Study. Alan suggested all board 
members read this study. He said it confirms our programs reach more Portland-area people. Debbie 
said we learned about groups that we haven’t served. Margie said most of our participants live in this 
area and are present in lower concentrations in other parts of the state. Fred Gordon noted until 2008 
we had less money to go after residential customers in Pacific Power territory outside Portland, because 
industrial and large commercial projects claimed a large share of available Pacific Power funds. Phil will 
forward the final report to the board when it is available. John Reynolds said he much prefers receiving 
evaluation reports in the packet rather than on the day of the meeting. Dan Enloe noted a good way to 
reach some rural communities is by participating in their special events.  
 
Staff Report 
 
Margie presented the report. She noted the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) strategic plan 
and corresponding business plan continue to take shape. She noted next spring, Energy Trust may be 
asked to increase funding for NEEA above our current $3.2 million/year. She commented on a trip to 
San Francisco she and Fred made to participate in a discussion of zero net energy commercial buildings. 
She noted a recent Behavior, Energy and Climate Change conference brought together behaviorists, 
analysts and marketers to discuss connections between these subject areas and that a number of Energy 
Trust staff participated and were stimulated by the ideas discussed.  
 
Margie mentioned an initiative by newly elected incoming Oregon Representative Jules Kopel-Bailey who 
is working with others on an Energy Efficiency Performance Initiative. The effort would pool different 
sources of capital into a state-wide loan pool designed to stimulate deeper energy efficiency investments 
using financing. Debbie said she heard a presentation on this and has concern their model would work 







Discussion Minutes  December 19, 2008 


15 


with only a handful of contractors, a departure from our model. Margie stated the organizers are still 
thinking through their proposal and that Energy Trust has been asked to provide comments.  
 
Margie mentioned recommendations of the NW Energy Efficiency Task Force (NEET) are being finalized 
She is on the executive committee. The task force meets on January 9. She thinks many of the working 
group members have found their collaborations to be rewarding and may wish to continue such regional 
efforts. 
 
Energy Trust recently completed focus groups on the draft prototype Energy Performance Score tool, 
which represents the energy use and carbon footprint of a home or building. A tool like this was 
introduced as part of the Governor's energy legislation. She would like to see the score linked to 
financing options, allowing energy improvements to be amortized over a long period of time.   
 
Margie noted a full day energy workshop designed for public entities attracted 175 attendees from 70 
municipalities, special districts and governments. She also pointed out that a $1 million check to pay for 
the Portland Habilitation Center’s solar project has been signed. 
 
October call volume was over 5,800, in part because of increased awareness about energy and our fall 
campaign. Currently we are recruiting and training home energy reviewers.  
 
Elaine Prause, currently the production efficiency program manager, was selected as renewable energy 
business manager. Recruitment for replacing her is underway.  
 
Margie concluded by saying this is the last staff report she will be providing in this format. Staff has 
expressed concern about the many different ways we capture and how we represent our 
accomplishments, all of which take time to prepare. Henceforth she will present quarterly reports to the 
board, and will report on other activities of note as they happen. Jason said there continues to be a need 
to explain what we do to interested parties. John Klosterman said he also enjoys seeing the 
accomplishments, although he would like to hear more about things that are not going so smoothly, 
challenges, things that have gone wrong.  
 
Margie said we will do another board survey early in the year to learn how well the board functions, 
how well staff serves them and the like.  
 
Feature presentation – Biomass Projects. Thad Roth, biomass program manager, described a lot of 
activity in the biomass business right now. Two projects came on line in ’08 – Rough and Ready, 1.2 
MW, $1.685 million incentive, 100% green tags, co-gen project, PPA with Pacific Power, got additional 
drying capacity. John Reynolds said it also achieved significant pollution reductions. The second project 
was the City of Portland Wastewater Treatment Plant – capacity 1.73 MW, incentive $362,000, 100% 
green tags, $0.232 million/aMW, $720,000 (40% of load) cost reduced/year. Another project authorized 
this year was Stahlbush Island Farms – 1.6 MW, $827,000 incentive, a waste anaerobic digester/co gen, 
green tags 6,000/yr, PPA with Pacific Power, annual electric sales $757,000, offset natural gas costs.  
 
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 5:15 pm. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular and annual meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be 
held Wednesday, February 11, 2009, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth 
Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. 








1-866-368-7878 
energytrust.org
Energy Trust programs serve Oregon customers of Portland General 
Electric, Pacific Power, NW Natural and Cascade Natural Gas.


Sokol Blosser Grows Green  
With Solar Powered Pinot


Solar works for Oregon businesses. 


When the sun shines on the vines at Sokol Blosser Winery, Susan Sokol Blosser  
is thrilled. Besides making the grapes grow, the sun is generating about one-third 
of the winery’s electricity needs thanks to a solar array in the vineyard. That adds 
up to as much as $2,000 in annual electricity cost savings.


Consider powering your company with solar, too. Energy Trust incentives and 
tax credits make it affordable, with a typical payback of five years. After that, you 
can count on many years of free, clean electricity with independence from rising 
utility rates.


>> Energy Trust has helped over 100 Oregon businesses go solar. 
 Yours could be next.


Susan Sokol Blosser
Sokol Blosser Winery








 


 
 
 
Briefing Paper 
Energy Trust Eligibility to Provide Conservation 
Programs to BPA Utility Customers  
February 11, 2009 


Summary 
Energy Trust and Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) have negotiated a memorandum of 
agreement allowing Energy Trust to be listed as eligible to contract with BPA electric utility 
customers for electric efficiency services in Oregon, with the utilities recovering the cost 
through BPA’s conservation program. No Board action is required. 


Background 


• Energy Trust's natural gas territories often overlap with BPA's retail electric utility 
territories. BPA and Energy Trust have explored whether and how BPA could fund 
Energy Trust to provide efficiency services to BPA's utility customers in these 
overlapping areas, which include public utility districts and municipal electric suppliers. 


• Under an agreement reached with BPA in January 2009, BPA’s retail utilities would be 
permitted to contract with Energy Trust to provide efficiency services to utility end-use 
customers. Participating utilities would pay Energy Trust up front and recover their 
costs through BPA’s conservation program. 


• The current focus is a package of prescriptive hospitality industry measures that Energy 
Trust would provide to a participating utility's end-use customers through the Existing 
Buildings program. The agreement allows for additional packages of measures for other 
targeted participants to be offered in the future. 


Discussion 
• The agreement has two dimensions:  


o In the short term, it would allow Energy Trust to provide hospitality-related 
efficiency services to BPA commercial customers. Several BPA utilities are 
interested, and we are scheduling visits with them for later this month 


o In the longer term, Energy Trust would be able to provide more Energy Trust 
programs to these utilities if there is mutual interest. 


• There are obvious efficiencies gained by Energy Trust providing electric efficiency 
services in areas where we now provide services to gas customers who receive their 
electric service from BPA utility customers. Currently, Energy Trust can address only 
part of these customers’ efficiency potential. For electric efficiency service, we refer 
these customers to their public utility district, municipal utility or rural electric 
cooperative. 


• The agreement with BPA would allow Energy Trust to serve these customers’ needs 
comprehensively if the BPA customer utility and Energy Trust choose it. The agreement 
does not require these utilities to use Energy Trust services, it permits it. 







Energy Trust Eligibility to Provide Conservation Programs to BPA Utility Customers     February 11, 2009 
 


 
Page 2 of 2 


• No electric funds from investor-owned utilities would be used for this effort. 
Participating BPA utilities would pay Energy Trust in advance to cover incentives and 
operational expenses (including management, delivery, and marketing) to provide these 
electric services. These payments would be a credit against the utilities’ obligations to 
BPA in accordance with BPA's conservation program requirements. Energy Trust would 
combine these payments with gas funds already allocated for gas customers, to provide 
electric and gas program services. 


• Staff also expects this arrangement to bring in more gas savings from customers outside 
of PGE and Pacific Power territory, who will be able to deal with one entity (Energy 
Trust) for energy efficiency services instead of two (Energy Trust for gas and the BPA 
utility for electricity, if service is available).  


• The impact to Energy Trust operations appears manageable. BPA customer-utilities 
would have until the end of March to enroll through Energy Trust’s Existing Buildings 
program for services through October, 2009. Less than .25 of an FTE from that 
program’s staff will be needed to enroll utilities and provide reporting over this time 
period. The Energy Trust IT and Finance departments will need to update FastTrack and 
the general ledger to track expenditures and savings in these service territories.  


• Any packages of measures and services that would be offered to BPA's utility customers 
due to the agreement would be approved by BPA and would be identical to those 
included in Energy Trust’s standard program offerings. 


• Energy Trust would not claim energy savings from this work. The savings would be 
reported to the utility customer and BPA. 


• Because the agreement would involve no expenditure of Energy Trust funds, it is within 
the Executive Director’s signing authority. However, staff believes it is necessary to brief 
the board before signing the agreement because it would authorize an expansion of 
Energy Trust’s participant base to BPA's Oregon public power customers. 


Next Steps 
• With BPA’s help, Energy Trust staff will work with 11 retail electric utility customers to 


execute contracts to participate in the hospitality initiative by March 31, 2009. 


• Future packages and work will be defined as needed. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 








 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


Sokol Blosser Winery | 2007 Sustainability Report
By Alison Sokol Blosser, Co-President


I. INTRODUCTION


My mother, Susan, has written our annual sustainability report since 2003, chronicling the successes 
and failures Sokol Blosser has experienced in our drive toward sustainability across the operation.  She 
retired officially on January 2, 2008 and now the torch has been passed to my brother, Alex, and me.  
Our goal with our sustainability report is to sum up, for our employees, our customers, and our Board 
of Directors, our successes, setbacks, future plans, and the challenges we have faced in fulfilling our 
sustainability goals.  Each report deals only with that particular year.  Our sustainability reports from 
prior years are on our website: sokolblosser.com, and here is a short list of our successes prior to 2007: 


Organic certification for our vineyard
U.S. Green Building Council LEED certified barrel cellar (first winery in world to achieve this)
Renewable wind power  – 1/3 of our power usage
25kW solar panel system – 1/3 of our power usage
Winery waste from harvest (grape skins and stems) recycled into compost piles, which is then used to 
improve vineyard soil
50% biodiesel in vineyard tractors and trucks
Member of the Prescott Western Bluebird Recovery Project with about 15 birdhouses
Brochures and copy paper now 100% post consumer waste recycled content
Eliminated foil capsules, printed wine labels on recycled paper, and put finished wine into kraft cases 
Active in the Oregon Natural Step Network (Susan is on the board)


II. SUSTAINABILITY AT SOKOL BLOSSER WINERY IN 2007


Reversing the damage we have inflicted on our planet will take a global effort, by all nations and all 
peoples.  We are not under any illusion that what we do at Sokol Blosser will have much effect.  But while 
we are not optimistic, we have hope that if each of us does our part, our many small acts will add up to 
make a difference.


But even taking small acts is not easy, and this year, as in the past, we look back on a series of frustrations, 


•
•
•
•
•


•
•
•
•
•







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


setbacks, and a few victories.  The following report is divided into continuing issues, frustrations and 
setbacks, and successes.  This report focuses on one year, 2007.  For previous year’s reports, 2003-
2006, see our website, sokolblosser.com.


III. CONTINUING ISSUES
 
CORK:  Many wineries have stopped using cork, the traditional wine bottle closure, and gone to either 
plastic corks or screw caps.  Plastic has no appeal for us because it is not recyclable at the consumer level 
and we don’t like plastic anyway as a petroleum-based product. Research on screw caps indicates that they 
do a good job of keeping the wine sound.  But screw caps are metal (a mined, non-renewable material) 
and have a plastic liner.  


Even with the likelihood that cork taint will ruin 5-10% of our wine bottles, we still are using natural 
cork.  This year, some cork companies came out with FSC-certified cork.  We’ve used FSC-certified 
lumber for construction projects and were eager to get the FSC-certified cork as a way to lessen our 
impact on the Earth.  However, we could not justify the 40% upcharge.  More manufacturers are getting 
FSC-certified, so our hope is that the upcharge will be less next year.


CARBON NEUTRAL: We’ve long thought about what it would take and how we could go about 
becoming carbon neutral.  In 2007, Oregon’s Governor Kulongski created the “Carbon Neutral 
Challenge Initiative” to assess and reduce the business’s carbon footprint, with the ultimate goal of 
becoming carbon neutral.  We signed up for this challenge and are waiting for help to begin the audit.


IV. FRUSTRATIONS AND SETBACKS


VINE REMOVAL: We removed several acres of old vines, the last of our phylloxerated self-rooted vines.  
Once we had pulled out all the vines and made two giant 15ft piles, we debated how best to get rid of 
them.  In the past, we’ve burned them.  This year, we decided to go the more sustainable route – or so 
we thought – and purchased a wood chipper.  We asked our vineyard crew to put each vine through the 
chipper, collect the chips, and then spread them in the tractor roads through the vineyard to give added 
traction during the winter.  We quickly saw how extremely labor-intensive and inefficient this method 
was, and the chipping didn’t even work that well.  Our vineyard crew spent a few days chipping the vines 
and made little headway through one pile.  Ultimately, we asked them to stop, returned the chipper for a 
credit, and resorted to burning the pile.


LAND CLEARING: We purchased 20 acres of land; it was our first land purchase in nearly 30 years.  
The land was covered in thick, over-grown blackberries that had the run of the place for ten-plus years.  
We also underestimated the number of trees that would need to be cleared as well.  We thought clearing 
would be quick and easy and that soon we’d be laying out 13 acres of new Pinot Noir vines.  Boy, were we 
wrong!


Our first obstacle was the blackberries.  We called several organic chemical providers and after they all 
told us that the organic product wouldn’t work and not to even try it, we resorted to using Roundup and 
Garlan.  Since the land was nearby but clearly separated from our organic-certified estate vineyard, we 
were ok in terms of not harming our existing organic certification.  







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


The second obstacle was the trees.  We originally estimated there were 40 trees to remove, and once 
we got into it, we actually ended up removing closer to 130 trees.  For tree-huggers like us, it was 
disheartening.  Many were small trees, less than a foot in diameter, but we were still disappointed.  There 
were a few large, beautiful Oregon oak trees that we tried to salvage by contacting a local barrel maker to 
see if they’d like to take the oak and make it into barrels for us.  We soon learned it would cost far more 
to go that route than to pay the exorbitantly high price of more than $900/barrel for the top of the line 
French oak barrels that we routinely purchase.  We ended up paying to have the trees felled, and then 
giving them to someone who removed them for free and sold them off as firewood.


On the bright side, we’re getting ready to plant 13.3 acres of Pinot Noir vines in spring 2008 on the new 
land.  We also started the organic certification process on the new land in August 2007 (after we were 
done getting rid of the blackberries).  And, we contacted the USDA to work on a Conservation Reserve 
Enhancement Program (CREP) because we’d like to restore the 6 acres of riparian land along Miller 
Creek.  Hope for the land is not lost.


LABEL SETBACK: We thought we had finally put our labels on a sustainable footing but our label 
printer couldn’t get us recycled paper on a recyclable liner in time for our bottling in the spring.  The 
problem seems to be too little demand for this environmental paper, so a long lead-time is needed and 
the printer didn’t order the paper in time.  They apologized profusely and we ended up with half of our 
labels being printed on 30% post-consumer recycled content paper on a non-recyclable liner and the 
other half were printed on virgin stock on a recyclable liner.  However, for our 2008 bottling run, we will 
be using 100% post-consumer recycled content paper on a non-recyclable liner, which we will capture 
and send back to the printer to be re-used.


V. SUCCESSES


BIODIESEL: We purchased our first new vineyard truck in more than ten years: a diesel GMC full-size 
truck.  We’re putting a 50% biodiesel blend in it, and it’s running very well.  Although it cost more and 
we ended up with a bit more truck that we probably needed, we’re pleased that we’re able to run all of our 
farm vehicles on biodiesel.


SOLAR PANELS: We installed a 25 kW solar panel system below what used to be our concert 
amphitheater, at the top end of a vineyard block in December 2006.  It went live on January 7, 2007 and 
immediately we saw the meter roll backwards. Anyone can visit our website (http://www.sokolblosser.com/
vineyard/good_to_the_earth.html) and see in real-time how much electricity our panels are generating.  
We are generating enough energy to cover one third of our needs.


RECYCLING IN OFFICES: We made recycling in the offices and Tasting Room easier.  Every desk has 
simply a white paper recycling bin.  Clusters of desks share one waste bin and soft plastic recycling bin.  
Outside in our covered breezeway, we have a row of big blue recycling bins set up for glass, aluminum, 
plastic water bottles, soft plastic, and hard plastic.  We’re continuing, of course, to also recycle cardboard.


STAFF INVOLVEMENT: In December, we started having “Green Bag Lunches” to gather our staff in 







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


an informal setting to brainstorm ways to be more sustainable.  Already, we’re starting to see the fruits 
of our labor.  Two people started carpooling from Beaverton, saving 40 miles in commuting mileage a 
day.  We set up a separate “reused paper” printer.  We’re emailing out some invoices to customers rather 
than mailing or faxing them to save paper.  These are all ideas our staff offered up, and we’re eager to 
implement as many more of these great eco-friendly ideas as possible.


COLLATERAL: In 2007, a few of our local printers became FSC-certified.  We were thrilled to be able 
to work with them to produce our most important company collateral on FSC-certified paper.  Our first 
foray was our Holiday Catalog (17,000 copies!), which we printed on FSC-certified paper.  The rest 
of our printing was done with 100% recycled content, 20-100% post-consumer waste paper.  We also 
discovered greenerprinter.com and started using them to produce postcards.  They use 100% recycled 
content, 50% post-consumer waste, process chlorine-free paper.


REMODEL/EXPANSION: We remodeled our existing offices, doubled the size of our office space, and 
created a private “Garden Room” where we can gather for lunch and hold private events.  While we did 
not go for LEED certification on this project, we did everything possible to make the project as eco-
friendly as possible.


Materials
FSC-certified framing materials.
Re-used framing materials to build new deck; bought FSC-certified Cedar for floor boards and 
railing.
FSC-certified maple cabinet doors and trim (maple provided by The Joinery, Portland, OR) 
formaldehyde-free MDF cabinet bodies and shelving. 
Countertops manufactured by EnviroGLAS are made from 100% recycled glass and porcelain 
terrazzo in Garland, TX.
Formaldehyde-free MDF boards used for painted wood caps and trim.
Marmoleum flooring, which is a nature-friendly and long-lasting material.  It’s produced from 
renewable materials: linseed oil, rosins, wood flour, jute and ecologically responsible pigments. The 
harvesting or extraction of these raw materials consumes relatively little energy.
Low-e Milgard windows (locally manufactured) wood-clad windows.
Miller ‘Acro Pure’ low odor, zero voc, interior acrylic latex finish was used throughout the project 
interior.  Rodda ‘Horizon’ was used on the building exterior.  Water based stains and polyurethanes 
were used on exposed wood surfaces throughout. 
Dual-flush toilet in bathroom reduces potable water usage by over 30%.
Pervious concrete on walkway to Tasting Room and pad underneath the breezeway allows water to 
quickly drain through.


Energy Efficiency
Large windows allow for lots of natural light and lessen dependence on using lights.
2-zone programmable thermostats allow for careful temperature controlling in upstairs and 
downstairs; separate energy efficient supplemental cooling unit in server room uses environmentally 
friendly R410A refrigerant and means that the small server room area is always cooled while the rest 
of the building may not be.  High efficiency air handler uses R410A refrigerant and features high 


•
•


•


•


•
•


•
•


•
•


•
•







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


efficiency blower motor and evaporator coils.  Heat Pump is ‘Energy Star’ rated and meets or exceeds 
13.00 SEER (Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio).
Compact fluorescent light bulbs in all fixtures.
Energy efficient suspended direct-indirect light fixtures.
Installed high efficiency ‘Energy Saver’ water heater with non-CFC foam insulation.


Furnishings
Reused all old Herman Miller modular office furniture
Added Herman Miller modular furniture systems
Action Office Furniture is made from 24% recycled materials (6% post-consumer content).  The 
panels have particle board stile and rail frames made from SFI-certified wood.  Hard-surfaced 
panels are covered with FSC-certified sustainably harvested hardboard.  Work surfaces are composed 
primarily of sawdust generated from other wood processing operations; work surface substrates 
are made from over 87% post-consumer recycled wood content.  Steel components contain 
approximately 25% recycled content.  It is also GREENGUARD™ certified as a low-emitting product 
that meets current indoor air quality standards.  At the end of its useful life, it is 25% recyclable.
Meridian filing and storage systems are made from 25% recycled materials (21% post-consumer 
content).  The metal components are powder-coated, which eliminates solvents and VOCs from the 
finishing process.  The recycled Ironstone finish used in drawer interiors is composed of up to 50 
percent recycled powder-coat paint.  It is also GREENGUARD™ certified as a low-emitting product 
that meets current indoor air quality standards.  At the end of its useful life, it is 100% recyclable.
Mirra office chairs are made from 42% recycled materials (31% post-consumer content).  It’s 
manufactured in West Michigan on a production line that utilizes 100% green power (50% from wind 
turbines and 50% from captured landfill off-gassing).  No air or water emissions are released during 
its production.  It is also GREENGUARD™ certified as a low-emitting product that meets current 
indoor air quality standards.  At the end of its useful life, it is 96% recyclable.  Plastic components are 
even identified with an ASTM recycling code to aid in recycling the components.
Hunter Douglas window blinds are PVC-free with no VOC’s which eliminates off-gassing.  The 
material is also completely recyclable.


PRODUCTION EQUIPMENT: We decided 2007 was the year in which we would purchase a very 
expensive filtering system to filter our white wines to stop fermentation and before bottling.  We tried 
out four models and ultimately selected one made in France.  (There wasn’t an option of buying one 
made locally, unfortunately.)  In the past, we had to filter our wine twice: once through the DE filter 
(diatomaceous earth) and once through a plate and frame filter.  This is an extremely common practice 
among wineries.  DE is actually the skeletal remains of tiny organisms.  It’s a mined substance and a 
potential carcinogen; our staff had to wear masks and use extreme care when handling the fine powdery 
substance.  The plate and frame filter used disposable pads that were a cellulose/DE mix.  Both filtering 
methods were necessary to do for each wine.  They’re messy and time consuming, and disposing of the 
DE was always difficult because it’s a hazardous material.  The new cross-flow filter system that we bought 
is an enormous contraption that has numerous quality and environmental benefits.  It saves us time and 
can run unattended throughout the night.  We lose less wine during the filtration process.  There are no 
disposable pads or materials needed.  And, it avoids using DE.  In addition to the large price tag, the only 
other potential drawback to the system, which seems quite minor compared to all the advantages, is that 


•
•
•


•
•
•


•


•


•







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


we have to use some chemicals to clean the system after each wine is filtered.


We also purchased a second electric forklift.  The old propane-powered forklift that we’ve used for 20-
odd years was finally retired from day-to-day use.  It will only be used sparingly during peak periods of 
harvest.


SURFACE CLEANERS USED IN THE TASTING ROOM: We tried a number of different cleaners 
for the tasting room floors, bathrooms and offices trying to find a product that could be used once a 
week to clean thoroughly the mess left by heavy traffic, not leave a odor in the space, and have the smallest 
environmental impact. 


Simple Green All Purpose Cleaner is one of the most recognized and longest standing “green” cleaners 
on the market.  It did a great job cleaning the floors and a good job on the bathrooms.  It also comes 
highly concentrated so that little packaging is needed and takes up less storage space.  The downside is the 
strong odor that it leaves behind.  We would have to allow too much time everyday for the space to air out 
and even after 12 hours you could still detect its very distinct smell.


Bio Kleen Super Concentrated All Purpose Cleaner is the most concentrated of the products we tested 
and went a long way but lacked the cleaning power.  We tried it in different proportions but even at 
double the recommended amount it still did not do the job well enough for highly trafficked areas.  
The Bac-Out Stain and Odor Eliminator from Bio Kleen was tried in the restrooms thinking that its 
combination of natural enzymes and lime peel extract would do a better job but we experienced the same 
results.  Not enough cleaning power.


Clorox Green Works All Purpose Cleaner is a coconut based cleaning agent with corn based ethanol and 
essential lemon oil.  While not as concentrated as the others it combines tough cleaning power without 
the heavy scent.  We have found that this product is a compromise of the previous two and works on the 
bathrooms and floors and is 99.9% all natural.


CONTINUING EDUCATION: On January 26th, Derek Smith, former Director of Sustainability at 
Norm Thompson Outfitters, presented “Global Warming 101” to our whole staff.  We also sent nine 
employees to the day-long Natural Step training, and three employees attended the big Natural Step 
conference on the NIKE campus.


AWARDS: We received quite a bit of recognition for our efforts to be more sustainable during 2007.  It 
was entirely unexpected yet extraordinarily fulfilling to have others recognize the struggles and triumphs 
we’ve faced.


In April, the City of Portland’s Office of Sustainable Development awarded Sokol Blosser a “BEST 
Practices for Sustainability” in a small business award, which is presented annually to Portland 
area companies demonstrating excellence in business practices that promote economic growth and 
environmental benefits.
In June, the State of Oregon made Sokol Blosser a Finalist in its Sustainability awards.
Susan Sokol Blosser was awarded Sunset Magazine’s prestigious “Green Award.”  The honor was 


•


•
•







 2007 Sustainability Report | Sokol Blosser Winery | Dundee, Oregon | sokolblosser.com | 1-800-582-6668


announced in the September 2007 issue of Sunset, the leading lifestyle publication in the West with 
1.4 million subscribers.  The editors noted that “president and founder Susan Sokol Blosser has 
pioneered green winegrowing and making in a state that is itself in front of the movement in the 
industry.”


V. ISSUES FOR 2008


CONTINUING EDUCATION: Staff education is a top priority.  We will continue to send our 
employees to the day-long Natural Step training and other sustainability seminars throughout the year.


ORGANIC LABELING: Our estate vineyards have been certified organic since 2005.  We bottled our 
2005 vintage without putting any notation on them regarding our organic status.  We decided that the 
2006 Pinot Noirs and 2007 white wines will have such notation and are working on those changes for 
our 2008 bottling run.


SUSTAINABLE GRAPE SOURCES: How do we source more sustainably-farmed fruit?  Especially for 
our blended wines, Evolution and Meditrina, where much of the fruits comes from WA and CA where 
they don’t have LIVE certification, Oregon’s sustainable certification for vineyards.  WA has VINEA, 
which his similar to LIVE.  CA doesn’t have anything.  How can we work with our growers and suppliers 
to help them achieve a sustainable farming certification?  This will be something we start to tackle in 
2008 and will likely take us many years to achieve.


SUSTAINABLE OUTDOOR LIGHTING: This continues to be a problem, and we hope to resolve it 
in 2008.  Lighting after dark for customers and employees is a serious issue.  We don’t have enough and 
what we have is not energy efficient.


CARBON NEUTRAL: We’ve joined the Governor’s pledge to go carbon neutral.  How do we determine 
our carbon footprint?  Once we know that, we can look at ways to minimize our carbon footprint and 
purchase offsets for the difference.


WASTE: How can we minimize the amount of materials we throw away?  And how can we encourage our 
customers to do the same?


SUPPLIERS:  We continue to look for like-minded companies with which to do business.








Energy Efficiency Resource Assessment
and


Supply Curves
2008 – 2027


February 11, 2009







2


Overview of presentation


Purpose: to show the Technical and Achievable, cost effective 
potential over the 20 year planning horizon.


• Discuss what is new to this update
• Describe the steps of the estimation process
• Present total potential for both PPL, PGE, NWN, and CNG.
• Provide estimates of potential by Sector and End Use.
• Talk about next steps:  Bundling measures into programs, and 


deploying programs over the 20 years.







3


What’s New?


• Updated utility data 
• Updated baseline, high efficiency specifications, 


and costs
• Added Benefit/Cost Ratios
• Addressed emerging technologies
• Industrial model can separate self direct and 


>1aMW 







4


New measures


• Home energy monitors
• Refrigerator recycling
• Minisplit heat pumps 
• New Energy Star homes 
• Heat pump water heater 
• Low Power Mode Appliances
• High efficient gas water heater 







5


Before You Start –
Decide On A Cost-Effectiveness Metric


• Participant Cost Test (PTC)
– Costs and benefits to the program participant


• Total Resource Cost (TRC)
– All Quantifiable costs & benefits regardless of who accrues 


them.  Includes participant and others’ costs
• Utility Cost Test (UTC)


– Quantifiable costs & benefits that accrue only to the utility 
system.  Specifically excludes participant costs


• Rate Impact Measure (RIM)
– Net change in electricity utility revenue requirements.


• Attempts to measure rate impact on all utility customers especially those that 
do not directly participate in the conservation program


• Treats “lost revenues” (lower participant bills) as a cost







6


Cost Benefit Tests


• BCR = NPV of benefits / Total Resource Cost 


• NPV of benefits includes: 
– Savings * Avoided Costs


• Avoided costs include adjustments for line losses, hedge 
value (electric only), and a carbon adder


• quantifiable non-energy benefits are also included







7


Inputs to Resource Potentials Assessment 
Methodology


• Availability
– Scope of measures


• Technologies


• Practices


– Applicability territory


• Number of units


• Units savings


– Achievable over time


• Retrofit


• Lost-Opportunity


• Costs
– Materials & labor


– Annual O&M


– Periodic Replacement


– Program Admin


– Externalities


– Other non-electric  







8


Summary of Technical Potential by Utility 
for the years 2008-2027


153
Total 
(Including cross-utility impact)


1515
Industrial


40238Commercial


972176Residential


Both Utilities, 
Mmtherm


CSG, 
Mmtherm


NNG, 
Mmtherm


Natural Gas Utilities


651
Total 
(Including cross-utility impact)


30582223Industrial


270123179Commercial


996732Residential


Both Utilities,
aMW


PPL,
aMW


PGE
aMW


Electric Utilities







9


2008 - 2027 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon 
Electric IOU’s


• 651 aMW of Technical Potential at $0.095/kWh Levelized cost


Electricity Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900


-$0.100 $0.000 $0.100 $0.200


Levelized Annual Cost, $/kWh


An
n


u
al


 A
ve


ra
g


e 
M


W


Technical
Achievable


Approximate
Cost-Effective


Screen







10


2008-2027 Sector Percentages of Technical Potential - Electric


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 651 MWa and Levelized Cost 
$/kWh, screened by BCR


Commercial at $ 0.030
42%


Residential at $ 0.034
12%


Industrial at $ -0.008
46%







11


2008 - 2027 Residential Sector - Electric


Resident ia l  Technica l  Potent ia l  76  aMW and 
Level ized Cost  $ /kWh,  screened by BCR


0 5 10 15 20 25


New Appl iance at  $ -0.159


New  L ighting at $ 0.072


New  DHW at $ 0.068


New  Construct ion at $ 0.050


Replace HVAC at $ 0.075


Replace DHW at $ 0.040


Replace Windows  a t  $  0 .011


Replace Appl iance at $ 0.000


Weatherize at $ 0.079


Lighting Retrofit at $ 0.024


HVAC Retrof i t  at  $ 0.042


a M W


Achievable
Technical







12


2008 – 2027 Commercial – Electric Potential


C o m m e r c ia l P o t e n t i a l  2 7 0  a M W  a n d  L e v e l i z e d  
C o s t $ /k W h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 10 20 30 40 50 60


N e w  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 0 2
N e w  W i n d o w s  a t  $  0 . 0 5 3


N e w  C o o l i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 1
N e w  A p p l i a n c e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 7


N e w  D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 1
N e w  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 5 1


N e w  R e f r i g e r a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 0 1 7
N e w  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 9


R e p l a c e  D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 0 5 0
R e p l a c e  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 0 2


R e p l a c e  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 0 3 6
R e p l a c e  C o o l i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 0


R e p l a c e  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 0 5
R e p l a c e  R e f r i g e r a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 0 1 7


R e p l a c e  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 3 3
R e p l a c e  A p p l i a n c e s  a t  $  0 . 0 4 6


R e t r o f i t  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 0 1 6
T r a n s f o r m e r s  a t  $  0 . 0 1 0
R e t r o f i t  D H W  a t  $  0 . 0 3 7


R e t r o f i t  C o n t r o l s  a t  $  0 . 0 3 5
R e t r o f i t  H V A C  a t  $  0 . 0 2 9


R e t r o f i t  L i g h t i n g  a t  $  0 . 0 2 5


a M W


Ach ievab le
T e c h n i c a l







13


2008 - 2027 Industrial Sector – Electric Potential 


In d u s t r i a l  T e c h n i c a l  P o t e n t i a l  3 0 5  a M W  a n d  
L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / k W h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 1 0 2 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 6 0 7 0


Cross -Cu t t i ng  Measures
Supp l y  &  T rans fo rme r  a t  $  0 . 002


Gener i c  O&M a t  $  0 .046
Ef f i c ien t  Motors  a t  $  0 .011


Ef f ic ien t  L ight ing  a t  $  0 .031
Pump E f f i c iency  a t  $  0 .004


Duct /P ipe Insu lat ion at  $  0 .019
A i r  Compresso r  a t  $  0 . 015


Senso rs  and  Con t ro l s  a t  $  - 0 .001
Fan  sys tem improvemen ts  a t  $  0 .004


Microw ave  P rocess ing  a t  $  0 .064
S e c t o r  M e a s u r e s


E lec t ron i cs :  p rocess  a t  $  -0 .060
Wood:  Rep l  Pneumat i cs  a t  $  -0 .031


E lec t ron i cs :  HVAC a t  $  -0 .053
Elect ron ics :  ch i l le r  a t  $  0 .005


Paper :  Re f ine r  Mod  a t  $  0 .039
Meta ls  a t  $  -0 .036


Paper :  Vapor  Recompr  a t  $  0 .014
Paper :  Ch lo rOxy  Mod a t  $  0 .012


Food :  Coo l ing  and  S to rage  a t  $  0 .015
Wood :  So f t  S ta r t  P ress  a t  $  0 .020


Ag I r r iga t ion  a t  $  -0 .514
Tra f f i c  &  A rea  L igh t s  a t  $  0 .049


a M W


Achievab le Techn ica l







14


2008 - 2027 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon 
Electric IOU’s with Emerging Technologies


Electricity Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0


200


400


600


800


1,000


1,200


-$0.100 $0.000 $0.100 $0.200


Levelized Annual Cost, $/kWh


A
nn


ua
l A


ve
ra


ge
 M


W


Technical
Potential
With Emerging
Technology







15


Emerging Technology Potential 


117Total


10HVAC Retrofit


2Heat Pump HW


23Lighting Retrofit


56Replace Appliance


2New Lighting


4New DHW


20New Appliance


aMW SavingsMeasure







16


2008 Draft Supply Curve for ETO - Oregon Natural Gas 
Utilities


• 151 Million therms of technical potential @ $.70/therm levelized cost


Gas Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0


50,000


100,000


150,000


200,000


250,000


$0.000 $0.500 $1.000 $1.500


Levelized Annual Cost, $/th


A
nn


ua
l k


Th
er


m
s


Technical


Achievable
Approximate


Cost-Effective
Screen







17


2008 Sector Percentages of Technical Potential - Oregon Natural Gas 
Utilities


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 153 Million therm and Levelized 
Cost $/th, screened by BCR


Commercial at $0.279
26%


Residential at $0.460
64%


Small Industrial at 
$0.259
10%







18


2008 – 2027 Residential Sector - Natural Gas Potential


Residential Technical Potential 76 aMW and 
Levelized Cost $/kWh, screened by BCR


0 5 10 15 20 25


New Appliance at $ -0.159


New Lighting at $ 0.072


New  DHW at $ 0.068


New Construction at $ 0.050


Replace HVAC at $ 0.075


Replace DHW at $ 0.040


Replace Windows at $ 0.011


Replace Appliance at $ 0.000


Weatherize at $ 0.079


Lighting Retrofit at $ 0.024


HVAC Retrofit at $ 0.042


aMW


Achievable


Technical







19


2008 – 2027 Commercial Sector - Natural Gas Potential


Commerc ia l  Po ten t i a l  40  M illio n  T h e r m s  a n d  
L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / t h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0
2,0


00
4,0


00
6,0


00
8,0


00


10
,00


0


12
,00


0


N e w  W i n d o w s  a t  $  0 . 5 0 9


N e w  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 1 6 6


N e w  W a t e r  H e a t i n g  a t  $  0 . 5 9 3


N e w  E q u i p m e n t  a t  $  0 . 4 7 1


R e p l a c e  W a t e r  H e a t i n g  a t  $  0 . 5 7 0


R e p l a c e  S h e l l  a t  $  0 . 2 8 4


R e p l a c e  E q u i p m e n t  a t  $  0 . 4 5 9


R e p l a c e  C o o k i n g  a t  $  0 . 1 4 4


Ret ro f i t  She l l  a t  $  0 .226


Ret ro f i t  Wate r  Hea t ing  a t  $  0 .331


Re t ro f i t  Equ ipmen t  a t  $  0 .141


M ill ion Therm


Achievable
Technica l







20


2008 – 2027 Industrial Sector - Natural Gas Potential


In d u s t r i a l T e c h n ic a l P o te n tia l 1 5  M T h e r m  
a n d  L e v e l i z e d  C o s t  $ / t h ,  s c r e e n e d  b y  B C R


0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 6 0 0 0


R e p l a c e m e n t


D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  1 . 0 3 4


P r o c e s s  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 4 5 3


S p a c e  H e a t  a t  $  0 . 3 0 7


R e t r o f i t


D H W  M e a s u r e s  a t  $  0 . 1 9 4


W e a t h e r i z a t i o n  a t  $  0 . 2 8 9


P r o c e s s  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 0 1 4


S t e a m  B o i l e r  a t  $  0 . 4 3 3


T h o u s a n d  T h e r m


A c h ie v a b l e T e c h n i c a l







21


Next Steps


• Program Budgets – Ramping in new measures, 
going deeper with existing programs (2 years).


• Deployment Scenarios (20 years).
• Integrate with utility IRP’s 








 


 


 


 
 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND CONSERVATION 
MEASURE RESOURCE ASSESSMENT FOR THE 


YEARS 2008-2027 
 
 


Prepared for the 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
 


Final Report 


December 31, 2008 


 


By 


Stellar Processes 


And 


Ecotope 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


Project Overview 
The goal of this project was to provide Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (Energy Trust) with 
the amount and cost of potential energy efficiency and renewable energy measures that 
could provide electricity and natural gas demand-side savings for Oregon consumers by 
2027 within the Energy Trust service territory. This resource assessment is designed to 
inform strategic planning, the project development and selection process, and for use in 
utility resource planning. By 2027, a technical potential of approximately 651 Average 
Megawatts (aMW) of electric savings and 148 million annual therms of gas savings 
were identified in this study1. 


Table 1: Summary of Technical Potential by Utility 


Electric Utilities PGE 
aMW 


PPL, 
aMW 


Both Utilities, 
aMW 


Residential 32 67 99 


Commercial 179 123 270 


Industrial 223 82 305 


Total  
(Including cross-utility impact)   651 


Natural Gas Utilities NNG,  
Mmtherm 


CSG,  
Mmtherm 


Both Utilities,  
Mmtherm 


Residential 76 21 97 


Commercial 38 2 40 


Industrial 15  15 


Total  
(Including cross-utility impact) 


  153 


 


Stellar Processes and Ecotope, Inc., reviewed existing demographic and energy 
efficiency measure data sources to identify and quantify the resource potential. The 
contractors created updateable planning tools to develop these estimates and for 
Energy Trust to incorporate in their ongoing planning processes. The tools to evaluate 
the cost of individual measures and packages of measures considers the measure life, 
equipment and installation, annual O&M expenses, and the discount rate employed by 
the Energy Trust to produce levelized costs and a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR). Levelized 
costs are useful to compare on a comparable basis program options and conservation 
strategies that have different measure lives. The BCR provides a comparison to long-
term benefits that include the lifetime and load shape value of the savings. In this sense, 


                                            
1 Electric measure savings are quantified in average MW as well as peak MW savings for summer and 
winter heavy demand periods. Gas savings are quantified in annual therms. 


 







 


the BCR is a more thorough comparison and is the index used to screen for cost-
effectiveness. 


It is important to note that program related costs are not included because Energy Trust 
staff directed that they are outside the scope of this study.  It is equally important to note 
that the levelized costs shown in this study are the entire societal cost of efficiency 
measures for situations where existing, working equipment is retrofit, and the 
incremental cost of efficiency when considering new purchases of efficiency versus 
standard equipment.  The incentive costs to the Energy Trust are often only a portion of 
these “total measure costs”.  This study provides the basic information on the cost of 
measures, which the Energy Trust will combine with their knowledge of markets and 
programs and incentives to develop estimates of total program costs to the society and 
(separately) to the utility system. 


While this project was not intended to provide program design, it does identify and 
quantify estimates of electricity and gas use and measures of activity (such as number 
and energy use of households or total floor space) in the target markets for the 
industrial / agriculture, residential, and commercial sectors.  Residential savings 
potential is quantified by housing type for new and existing single family, multifamily, 
and manufactured homes. Commercial savings are quantified on a square footage 
basis for typical business type designations such as retail, grocery, and large and small 
office spaces. The industrial analysis quantifies savings and costs by process type such 
as wood products, food, and electronics.  


Determining the applicability of potential measures to specific segments or subsectors 
of the commercial and industrial building stock can be difficult. For these segments, 
many “cross cutting” measures such as lighting improvements for commercial 
applications or motor efficiency improvements for industrial customers were analyzed. 
Cross cutting measures can be applicable across a wide variety of circumstances and 
building types. In the industrial sector, many measures are relevant for specific 
applications or processes rather than in discrete building types.  The industrial technical 
potential section discusses the assumptions used to determine measure applicability. 


Summary of Results 
The resource potential can be considered “technical” or “achievable”. The technical 
potential is an estimate of all energy savings that could be accomplished immediately 
without the influence of any market barriers such as cost and customer awareness. As 
such, it provides a snapshot of everything that could be done. Technical potential does 
not present what can be saved through programs; it would be impossible to get every 
customer to install every possible measure.  Furthermore, some resources may cost 
more than the Energy Trust or participants wish to pay. The achievable potential 
represents a more realistic assessment of what could be expected – taking into account 
the fact that not all consumers can be persuaded to participate and other real world 
limitations. 


The following figures and tables summarize the results of this analysis for 2027. In 
providing summary statistics for this section, we screened measures to a BCR of 1 or 
better. This provides a summary of the savings potential that has a reasonable chance 
of being cost effective when compared to avoided energy costs. Although the list of 







 


cost-effective measures does not include the highest cost measures, the supply curves 
and detailed tables of measures in the Technical Appendix lists all measures 
considered in this study. Both supply curves show some additional potential just beyond 
the current cost-effectiveness screen. Should higher avoided costs occur, there would 
be more additional measures available for conservation programs. 


Figure 1 shows that the estimated savings from all electricity measures would reduce 
electricity use by 651 aMW of technical potential for cost-effective measures. Figure 2 
shows the distribution of potential electric savings across market segments. 


Figure 1: Electricity Supply Curve 


Electricity Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900


-$0.100 $0.000 $0.100 $0.200


Levelized Annual Cost, $/kWh


A
nn


ua
l A


ve
ra


ge
 M


W


Technical


Achievable
Approximate


Cost-Effective
Screen


 
Figure 2: Electricity Technical Potential 


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 651 MWa and Levelized Cost 
$/kWh, screened by BCR


Commercial at $ 0.030
42%


Residential at $ 0.034
12%


Industrial at $ -0.008
46%


 







 


Figure 3 shows that natural gas conservation measures could reduce consumption by 
an estimated 153 million therms. Note that only small industrial customers are included 
in this gas supply curve. The larger industrial natural gas customers are not included 
within the Energy Trust mission. Figure 4 shows the distribution of potential natural gas 
savings across market segments. 


Figure 3: Natural Gas Supply Curve 


Gas Supply Curve
All Sectors, 2027


0


50,000


100,000


150,000


200,000


250,000


$0.000 $0.500 $1.000 $1.500


Levelized Annual Cost, $/th


A
nn


ua
l k


Th
er


m
s


Technical


Achievable
Approximate


Cost-Effective
Screen


 
Figure 4: Natural Gas Technical Potential 


All Sector 2027 Technical Potential 153 Million therm and Levelized 
Cost $/th, screened by BCR


Commercial at $0.279
26%


Residential at $0.460
64%


Small Industrial at 
$0.259
10%


 


 








 
Board Decision 
Elect Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie 
Hammond  and Caddy McKeown to New Three-
Year Terms on the Energy Trust Board of 
Directors 
 
February 11, 2009 
 


Purpose   
 


Re-elect Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond and Caddy McKeown to new three-
year terms on the Energy Trust Board of Directors; and request the nominating committee to 
explore candidates to fill Vickie Liskey’s board position. 


 


Background  
 
When the Energy Trust board was created in 2001, three members were given one-year terms, 
three had two-year terms, and three had three-year terms. In February 2002, the board set 
future terms at three years in order to maintain the staggered schedule. 
 
Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond and Caddy McKeown occupy terms that end in 
2009.  These four members have indicated to the board nominating committee their willingness 
to continue to serve, and the board needs to decide whether to elect them to new three-year 
terms. 
 


Recommendation  
 


Adopt the resolution below.  
 







R502 Election of Board Members and Officers  February 11, 2009 


2 


 


RESOLUTION 502 
 ELECTING RICK APPLEGATE, JASON EISDORFER, JULIE 


HAMMOND AND CADDY MCKEOWNTO NEW TERMS ON THE 
ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 


WHEREAS:  
 
1. The terms of incumbent board members Rick Applegate, Jason 


Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond and Caddy McKeown expire in 2009. 
 


2. The board nominating committee has recommended that these  
four members’ terms be renewed. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
Board of Directors:   
 


1. Elects Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer, Julie Hammond and Caddy 
McKeown incumbent board members, to new terms of office that 
begin in 2009 and end in 2012; 


 
2. Requests the nominating committee to explore candidates to fill 


the vacancy left by Vickie Liskey who retired in September 2008. 
 
 


Moved by: _____________   Seconded by: _______________ 
 


Vote:    In favor: _____   Abstained: ______ 
 


  Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for no vote] 
 
 








 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting January 21, 2009 


 
Attending from the Council: 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Karen Meadows, Bonneville Power 
Administration 
Paul Case, Oregon Remodelers Association 
Bill Welch, EWEB 
Jeff Bissonnette, Fair and Clean Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc. 
Steve Weiss, NW Energy Coalition 
Charlie Grist, NW Power Planning Council 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Don Jones, PacifiCorp 
Lori Koho, OPUC  (phone) 
 
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Steve Lacey 
Diane Ferington 
Fred Gordon 
Sarah Castor 
Ben Huntington 
Kate Scott 
Leana Mathews 
Ashley Jackson 
John Reynolds, board of directors 
Phil Degens 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Tom Beverly 
Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
Dan Enloe, board of directors (phone) 
 
Others attending: 
Tom Kovalak, CSG 
Mark Defrancisco, Heat Relief 
Eric Breon, Oregon Green Solutions (OGS) 
Kit Schumann, OGS 
Jessee Schuman, OGS 
Tracy Hruska, OGS 
Benjamin Flaata, OGS 
Jon Strahl, OGS 
Izzy Weaver, OGS 
Julia James, OGS 
Phil Knight, Service Partners 


Jeff Schmidt, Marhy Dist 
Marshall Johnson, CSG 
Others attending, continued 
Rod Carson, RC Heating and Air Conditioning 
Ron Penn, P&L Johnson Mechanical 
Alecia Dodd, CSG 
Tom Sorenson, Heat Relief 
John Livengood, Gagles Heating 
Dick Edwards, Nexant, Inc 
Ed Hahn, Four Seasons Heating and Cooling 
Courtney Dale, OGS 
Pat Beckley, Carson Oil Co. 
Kong Tang, Thrifty 
Stewart Mercer, Gensco 
Steve Guasco, Roth Heating 
Mike Dawson, Gensco 
Dave Foster, D&R Heating 
Joe Frey, OGS 
Ian Shelledy, CUB 
Marilyn Williamson, NW Natural 
Jeremy Prys, Rice Heating and Air Conditioning, 
Inc 
David Band, Carson Oil Co 
Berck Sheppard, AAA Heating and Cooling 
Bad Bigalow, Tri County Temp 
Dave Sadihawk, Tri County Temp 
Garrett Harri, PGE 
Bull Mountain Mechanical 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Jerry Page, Total Comfort 
Steve Campbell, Home Comfort 
Tom Newman, AireFeo Inc. 
Zach Erdmann, Premium Efficiency 
Jeff McCormick, Gensco 
Mary Mann, Goose Hollow Window Co.  
John Schreiner, Nor-Air 
Michael  Pepellaskov, Energy Comfort 
Carollyn Farrar, NW Natural 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Lauren Flagn, ? 
Jason Young, Climate Control 
Jerri Cole, OIS Distribution 
Adam Zielinski, Sustainable Solutions 
Rob Staehle, Watts Heating 
 


 







CAC Notes – January 21, 2009     
 


2 


 
1. Welcome and Introductions 
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. Steve reviewed the 2009 schedule and changes to the council roster, noting that Paul Case 
(Oregon Remodelers), Holly Meyers (NW Natural), Allison Spector (Cascade NG), and Bill 
Welch (EWEB) will be representing their organizations in 2009. 
 
3. 2009 Program Incentive Updates (Discussion) 


 
a. Existing Homes furnace incentives. Diane Ferington explained Energy Trust’s proposal that as of 
May 1, 2009, stand-alone incentives for gas furnaces no longer would be available. She noted 
that market studies indicated that a high percentage of high efficiency furnaces are being installed 
independent of program incentives and that this has been noted to stakeholders since last fall.  
She indicated that we would grandfather incentive applications through June to effectively 
complete the 2008-09 heating season. She welcomed comments.  


• Contractors: the proposed change is unfair, unjust. They were skeptical of the studies 
and want percentages and know who was surveyed.  
Fred Gordon: 2 years ago when asked a sample of contractors if they would sell same 
equipment without incentive, most said yes. Distributers said they will still sell. 
Customers said they would have purchased without the incentive. There were 5 
different inquiries over 3 years, each different in scope. We drew from multiple pieces 
of information to draw a conclusion and gave the industry a year to adjust to this.  


• Vendor: we are not selling in this economy. What happened in the last few years is not 
going on now.  


• Vendor: customers are going to be very upset comparing prices for 90% furnace. Taking 
away the incentive will take away business. How many furnaces need to be replaced? 
Many. We need the incentive to do it. Pricing affects people’s decisions.  


• Fred: incremental costs of a 90+ furnace range from $600-1,200 and our incentive is 
$150. The furnaces are selling with other features that we do not offer incentives for.  


• Contractor: “If you take away the foundation of the program, your program will die”. 
Customers will go back to less efficient heat pumps and furnaces because it’s cheaper. 
80% furnaces did not make a change until recently. There was a reason to go to 90% 
furnace. Most contractors here are better and stronger. They have been trained by 
Energy Trust and are trying to install the best.  


• Contractor: there is no new construction going on. Contractors are entering the 
replacement market selling “price” by selling cheaper products.  


• Contractor:  Asked about the budget impact for eliminating the incentive,  
• CSG representative: processed 6,500 $150 incentives for new furnaces- about $1M per 


12 months.  
• Contractor: “I pay monthly utility bills that include funding for Energy Trust incentives.” 


If cutting incentives, where is money going?  
• Contractor: the reason to have the furnace incentive is to achieve gas savings and also 


energy savings.  
• New construction homes are going high performance: the cost difference between a 


90% and 95% efficient furnace is about $1,600. Incentives really help people make the 
decision to go to the higher efficiency.  


• To get to the other area where houses need new furnaces, we need the incentive to 
attract them to the higher efficient option.  







CAC Notes – January 21, 2009     
 


3 


• Steve Lacey, addressing where the furnace incentive budget has been redirected: the 
money will go toward other measures: duct sealing, insulation, gas water heaters, 
reducing amount of gas being used to heat the home and to bring gas expenditures in 
line with revenues received by utilities. Up until this year Energy Trust has been working 
to reduce the surplus in gas funding by spending more than it is currently taking in. By 
the end of 2009 there will be no more surplus and budgets will need to be reduced to 
align with the revenues.  


• Fred: there is no evidence the electronically commuted motor generates enough savings 
to be cost effective.  


• Contractor: We have seen the market change within the past 3 months.  
• Contractor: a customer’s 17-year-old furnace went out. The customer had the choice 


to spend $1,000 to keep two old furnaces running, or $5,000 to upgrade to an efficient 
furnace. He chose to fix his furnace for $1,000. He does have the money and chose not 
to upgrade. They are seeing parts selling to keep 70% and 80% furnaces running rather 
than upgrading. 


• Contractor: asks about activity in Southern Oregon. 
• Fred: We are investigating sales in Bend to see if we should continue the program there 


and in other Cascade Natural Gas territory. We do not serve the furnace replacement 
market in the Medford area- Avista runs their own program. 


• Diane: restates that incentives will not change until after May. Sales are most likely to be 
processed thru June.  


• Paul Case: if activity drops and proves that the incentive is needed, will we act on this? 
• Steve: we may offer another promotion in the fall with incentives for furnaces if we find 


the market is reverting back to lower efficiency furnaces. We are trying to put together 
a program that best serves the rate payers who are the source of incentive and program 
funding.  


• Contractor: disputes survey findings. Incentive drives many to purchase 90% furnaces. 
State tax incentives are limited and nothing is available at the federal level.  


 
b. Existing Homes air sealing incentives. Diane said a new requirement proposed to take effect May 
1, 2009, would set a new, higher minimum air flow reduction of 200 cubic feet per minute to 
qualify for an incentive. She reviewed duct and air sealing benefit cost ratios.  


• Contractor: asked where did the data backing the change come from?  
• Fred: savings data represents our best estimates after consulting with RTF and experts.   


Cost data is based on air sealing installations completed through the program.  
• Contractor: how do we verify that these numbers are accurate?  
• Dave Hutchins (CSG): noted that very few trade allies have enrolled in air sealing 


training classes he offers and encourages contractors to take advantage of these 
trainings. 


• Contractor: business now is 40% of where it was last year. Cutting incentives in this 
tough economy will hurt contractors you took the time to train. 


• Several contractors: Energy Trust incentives helped us get started. Taking them away 
now is a bad move, considering the economy. 


• CSG representative asks the contractor what percentage of the incentive pays the cost 
of the installation. The contractor replied that 100% is covered with the Mobile Homes 
program.    


 







CAC Notes – January 21, 2009     
 


4 


c. Existing Homes duct sealing incentives. Diane presented data supporting a proposed duct sealing 
incentive of $0.50 per CFM improvement.  


• Contractors: recommend using other studies as sources of data.  
• Contractor: questions the fairness of incenting a 95% efficient furnace regardless of the 


efficiency improvement over the old furnace, while basing duct sealing incentives on the 
percentage improvement.  


• Oregon Green Solutions (OGS): Energy Trust’s incentive pays 100% of the cost of their 
work. They work mostly in older homes. Many of their customers who have the lowest 
incomes have the highest utility bills. Energy Trust needs to focus on low income 
customers. Most people have never heard of Energy Trust until OGS shows up. Many 
can’t afford to do measures that qualify for incentives other than the “free” duct sealing 
OGS offers. 


• Diane: Energy Trust is working on an initiative serving lower income homes.  
• Contractor: if you decrease incentives now as the economy continues to erode, half the 


people in this room are going to lose their jobs. 
• Steve: structuring the incentive around units of CFM improvement is simpler than other 


approaches; we constantly hear contractors asking for greater simplicity in our 
programs.  


 
d. Other incentive changes. Diane said the Home Performance with Energy Star coupon will be 
discontinued in 2009. A bonus coupon will be offered in spring. The windows promotion will 
not be offered this spring.  


• Mary Mann: clients are holding off from purchasing now because they think promotions 
are on the way, and asks Energy Trust to let customers know that the promotions will 
not be offered. Don’t say “we might make another special offer” because that just 
makes people wait. 


 
e. New incentives. Diane noted new incentives will be offered for tankless water heaters with 
electric ignition and high efficiency boilers with electric ignition.  
 
f. Mobile/manufactured home incentives. Diane and Dave Hutchins explained new requirements for 
mechanical ventilation associated with duct- and air-sealing in mobile homes. A 100 CFM 
reduction will be required to qualify for an incentive.  


• Contractor: 95% of his business serves mobile homes. Most clients cannot afford 
upgrades. How do we reach and serve these folks? The wait for Community Action 
Program assistance is three years, at least.  


• Diane: we are looking at ways to serve that income bracket.  
• Steve: while the public purpose funds coming to Energy Trust are not eligible for serving 


low income, and the 17% share of the public purpose fund directed at low income 
households is administered by the Oregon Department of Housing & Community 
Services, not Energy Trust, the Obama stimulus package is likely to have more funding 
for low income programs. The Oregon Public Utility Commission may have leeway to 
change the value given to non-energy benefits, such as low income support, in the cost 
effectiveness test Energy Trust must, by law, apply to any incentive it offers.  


• Steve noted that more than half of Energy Trust’s 2009 gas efficiency budget supports 
the existing homes program.  


 







CAC Notes – January 21, 2009     
 


5 


Conservation Advisory Council members’ comments on proposed incentive changes: 
• Steve Weiss: frightening when people say their businesses are going to fail. We need to 


further consider the incentive changes. Suggests a smaller meeting to focus on effect on 
Energy Trust  programs. Would hate to make a decision [supporting incentive changes] 
in the face of this feedback from trade allies. 


• Suzanne Dillard: timing seems bad. Once you take something away, people back off and 
don’t realize that the incentive may be coming back.  


• Lauren Shapton: concerned about data used. PGE heat pump data didn’t look like Energy 
Trust data. Not sure the market has changed.   


• John Reynolds: concerned about the proposed incentive changes.  
• Karen Meadows: concerned about the cost effectiveness of duct sealing.  
• Holly Meyer: concerned about the furnace issue. With this level of disagreement, we 


need to dig more into it, in particular the effect of the down economy. She would 
hesitate to change the incentive.  


• Bill Welch: not convinced that $150 from Energy Trust is going to keep high efficiency 
furnaces going in this economy. We will have to acknowledge that we will lose trade 
allies if we cut the incentives.  


• Steve Lacey: Energy Trust gas spending is on course to outpace revenue, as we spend 
down carryover funds from past years. We will need to go back to NW Natural and 
Cascade to fund the higher activity level if this trend continues. We will check mid 
summer on where we are with our savings and activities.  


 
Council members generally agreed on the need for more discussion before reaching decisions.  
 
4. Home Electronics Program (discussion)  
Fred delivered a presentation and noted that, among home electronic products, televisions are 
the biggest electricity consumers. Challenge is nationally to get major retailers, such as Best Buy 
and Costco, to lean on manufacturers to develop higher efficiency products. In California, Pacific 
Gas and Electric has had some success.     


 
Key elements include common specifications for all participants, and sales agents who work with 
manufacturers. Goal is to include televisions, monitors and personal computers.  
 
The approach makes sense if done regionally through the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance. 
Energy Trust could support NEEA’s work.  NEEA would ally with Pacific Gas and Electric, 
Sacramento, and maybe others to offer a large area with a similar offer to the national retailers.   
PG&E proposes to develop a coordinating council to run near-identical programs at different 
utilities. 
 
Fred noted that PG&E developed an excellent program design to market to large retailers and 
buying coops for small retailers, but is not sure PG&E picked the best efficiency levels. It is 
possible that NEEA could help the joint program develop a more aggressive standard and move 
things faster. BPA and Puget Sound Energy have expressed interest in NEEA taking this role. He 
believes the effort would cost $1 million in 2009 to get started.  
 
He concluded the effort meets criteria for new ventures, including:  


• Significant savings 
• High chance of success and changing market  
• Outsourcing work to NEEA that would be difficult for Energy Trust to staff 







CAC Notes – January 21, 2009     
 


6 


• There are some manageability issues, but they can probably be resolved 
• There are expansion opportunities. 
• Opportunities to serve rural areas and work with small retailers as well as the big-selling 


outlets. 
• Complement to core programs. 


 
Bill Welch feels this will make people think about energy efficiency with everything that they 
buy. Studies show more and more people are interested in efficiency. Fred says that by 2010, 
NEEA proposes the budget will increase. Other utilities may want to fund as well. He is not sure 
if the money is available at this time but will have a clearer picture by the end of the month 
when we close the books on 2008. 
 
Steve noted there was general support from council members and no dissenting opinions. 
 
Fred will describe this potential initiative to the Energy Trust board at its February meeting.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 4:00 pm. Next meeting is February 18, 2009.  
 
 
 
 








Board of Directors  
Terms of Office 
February 11, 2009 
 


 Term Started Term Ends Office Held 


Rick Applegate 2/2003 2009 
Secretary 


Vice President 


Jason Eisdorfer 3/2001 2009  


Dan Enloe 4/2008 2011  


Roger Hamilton 4/2008 2011  


Julie Hammond 4/2003 2009  Secretary 


Al Jubitz 4/6/2005 2011  


Debbie Kitchin 4/2004 2010 Secretary 


John Klosterman 1/2002 2011 
Vice-President, 


Treasurer 


Caddy McKeown 11/2005 2009  


Betty Merrill 4/2008  


ODOE Special 
Board Advisor, 


Ex-officio 


Alan Meyer 9/2005 2010  


Preston Michie 4/6/05 2011  


John Reynolds 3/2001 2010 
Vice President 


President 


John Savage 11/2003  Ex-officio 
 







Terms of Office  February 11, 2009 


 2


 
No longer serving 


Andy Anderson 4/2001 2004 (resigned 2002)  
Christine Ervin 3/2001 2004 (resigned 2004) Secretary 


Tom Foley 1/2002 2008 (resigned 2/2008) 
Treasurer, 
President 


Suzanne Johannsen 3/2001 2003 (resigned 2002)  


Lynn Kittilson 3/2001 10/2003 Ex-officio 


Rick Kroon 12/2002 2007 (resigned 6/2005)  


Vickie Liskey 9/2004 2010 (resigned 9/2008)  


Cheryl Perrin 3/2001 2006 (resigned 2005) Vice President 


Bill Nesmith 4/2003 1/2008 ODOE Special 
Board Advisor 


Steve Schell 1/2002 2005 (resigned 2005) President 


 
 NOTES 


1. In January 2002, the board set future terms at three years in order to maintain the 
staggered schedule.  


2. Following the end of a director’s term and if he/she is not reappointed, the director 
continues to serve until the next annual meeting or when his/her successor takes office, 
whichever occurs first. 





